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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ho Siu Pik

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

9/F Nova Tower

No. 185 Yuexiu Road South

Yuexiu District, Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province, 510057

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Suites 801-2, 8th Floor
COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED ADDRESS OF THE COMPANY

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS DEPARTMENT

Office of the Board
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Corporate Information" (Continued)
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INVESTOR ENQUIRY HOTLINE

+86-20-37795190
+852-2845-1230

INVESTOR ENQUIRY EMAIL ADDRESS

ir@yashili.cn

STOCK CODE

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 01230

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.yashili.hk

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

Westpac Banking Corporation, Hong Kong

Bank of China, Guangdong Pilot Free Trade Zone Nansha Branch
Industrial Bank Co., Limited, Hong Kong Branch

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law

Sullivan & Cromwell (Hong Kong) LLP

As to Cayman law

Conyers, Dill & Pearman

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants

Note:

1) As at 25 August 2016
2) Resigned on 25 August 2016
©)) Appointed on 25 August 2016
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HEFERZERBRAT FHHRE 2010

Financial Highlights
e

For the six months ended 30 June

HZ6H30H16/EA
2016 2015 Percentage
RMB million RMB million change
ARBEBER AREBETT FE LB
(Restated)
(fg &)
Revenue WA 1,146.5 1,464.8 (21.7%)
Gross profit EH 580.5 721.8 (19.6%)
Profit attributable to equity holders 78 & B Bx 45 5 A FE (5 7158
of the Company 151 109.3 (86.2%)
Earnings per share (RMB cents) fRBEF(ANRES)
— Basic — &K 0.3 2.4 (87.5%)

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, the revenue of the Group amounted
to RMB1,146.5 million (same period of 2015: RMB1,464.8 million),
representing a decrease of 21.7% from the same period last year. The
decrease in sales revenue of the Group was mainly due to: (1) the accelerated
shrinking of the modern and traditional channels compromised the Group’s
existing competitive advantages in these channels; (2) during the first half of
2016, the Group continued to deal with the sales model transformation of the
mother-and-baby store channel and the e-commerce channel whereby the
implementation and effect of the new marketing strategies require time and
cost input; (3) the Group stepped up its sales efforts in the first half of 2016 to
cope with the intensified market competition; and (4) the Group was
proactively consolidating its product lines in response to the impact brought
by the registration law on infant formula, and such consolidation affected the
sales of some products to a certain extent.

HZE2016F6 8308 1L61E A A&EE 2 WA
EAR¥1,14658 8T (2015 R : AR
14648F BiL) BREAFRBTE21.7% ° &
EEHEEWRATREIEZZHN () BRAFE
HREBMNMEZHFEHBTAEERAEZE
BEOBRFED: (Z)RNEBER2016F L+ F
SERYHSBNEHREENHEEREER .
T EERBEORTIRES Z MR
RERBIEA  (Z)ARNEBR2016F ¥ F 0
RIBHE N E AR BN TEHF - & (m)
AEBTFTEEBRESERGRESZEHZINH
RAasMERERNFE MESSE—T
BELEE2ADEMMBEEEN-
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
BEENmED

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In the first half of 2016, both international and domestic conditions have been
complex and huge pressure of economic downturn remained in place. Under
the complicated domestic and foreign situations, China’s economy has been
generally stable with some improvement. In the first half of the year, the gross
domestic product was RMB34,063.7 billion with a year-on-year growth of 6.7%
based on the calculation of comparable prices. The total retail sales of social
consumables were RMB15,613.8 billion with a nominal year-on-year growth
of 10.3%, net of actual growth due to price factors of 9.7%, in which the
year-on-year growth in urban area was 10.2% whereas that in rural area was
11.0%. Online retail sales in China in the first half of the year was RMB2,236.7
billion with a year-on-year growth of 28.2%, in which online retail sales of
commodities amounted to RMB1,814.3 billion with a year-on-year growth of
26.6%, representing 11.6% of the total retail sales of social consumables.

The government has promulgated a series of policies and measures to raise
the concentration level and the threshold of China’s infant formula industry,
so as to strictly monitor and improve the quality of milk powder and rebuild
the confidence of Chinese consumers towards domestic milk powder. On 15
March 2016, China Food and Drug Administration passed in its executive
meeting the Administrative Measures for Registration of Recipes of Infant
Formula Powder Products (“Recipe Registration Requirement”), which will
be effective as of 1 October 2016. Recipe Registration Requirement will
restrict the number of product recipes available to enterprises. In principle, a
qualified enterprise shall have no more than 3 product series and 9 product
recipes, and when enterprises apply for recipe registration, product claims
related to the product recipe in the product label and the instruction manual
will also be reviewed, so as to ensure the trueness and accuracy of labels and
instruction manuals in a scientific and standardized manner, and to prevent
customers from being misled by exaggerated advertisement via labels and
instruction manuals. Starting from 8 April 2016, the policy of imposing tax on
cross-border e-commerce retail imports has been implemented in China with
reference to the List of Cross-Border E-Commerce Retail Imports and the
policy of taxes on postal delivery goods has been adjusted simultaneously,
putting an end to the “era of duty-free” cross-border e-commerce. In order to
ensure stable introduction of tax on cross-border e-commerce retail imports,
explore regulatory models that fit the characteristics of the development of
cross-border e-commerce retail imports, provide guidance to enterprises for
pro-active adaptation to standardized regulatory requirements and promote
positive development of cross-border e-commerce in China, the
implementation of the abovementioned policy regarding cross-border
e-commerce was subsequently suspended with a grace period of one year
which will end on 11 May 2017 before its re-activation.

1T O ER

2016F ¥ BRI LRERE BT
TERNABESRK -BHERIIMNERES  FE
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EEHEEARE340,6378 T LA L E KA
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In the first half of 2016, sales channels of domestic infant formula market
remained diversified. Growth of the e-commerce channel has slowed down
while its market share has already surpassed that of traditional retail stores
and supermarkets; growth of the mother-and-baby store channel which saw
increase in both sales volume and selling prices remained stable with the
greatest market share and the fastest pace of growth; traditional retail stores
and supermarkets continued to decline in an even accelerating pace, which
imposed more competitive pressure to domestic brands relying on this
channel. Besides, the development of overseas online purchase, overseas
intermediate purchase and cross-border e-commerce should not be
overlooked.

CORPORATE PROFILE

Established in 1983, the Group has mainly focused on the production and
sales of infant formula products and nutrition food since 1998. In 2002, the
Group launched the Scient brand of infant formula. The Group’s head offices
are situated in Chaozhou and Guangzhou, both located in Guangdong
Province, and its factories are run in areas such as Guangdong, Shanxi, Inner
Mongolia and Heilongjiang. The Group’s new factory in New Zealand also
formally commenced production in November 2015.

In 2013, Mengniu Group entered into strategic cooperation with the Group by
way of a general offer, thereby becoming the Group’s controlling shareholder.
In 2014, the Group, China Mengniu International Company Limited (“Mengniu
International”) and Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd. (“Danone Asia”)
entered into a share subscription agreement and the completion of which
took place in February 2015, making Danone Asia the second largest
shareholder of the Group. Through strategic alliance and resources
consolidation and by taking advantage of its complementary strengths with
COFCO, Mengniu Group and Danone Group, the Group is in a better position
to develop into a milk powder enterprise with a wider global presence. In
December 2015, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire interests
in Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd (“Oushi
Mengniu”), a subsidiary of Mengniu Group, and officially became the sole
milk powder business platform under Mengniu Group. In May 2016, the
Group completed the acquisition of the entire interests in Dumex Baby Food
Co., Ltd. (“Dumex”) under Danone Group, which marked the initial
completion of brand consolidation and new domestic production layout.

BEENWHED N (&)

2016F L+F BRABYRELDPHTER
BEESC BRRBEREAME  TmIHHE
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EIEE DA (&)

The Group’s business model incorporates high brand recognition, imported
premium dairy raw materials, imported premium infant formula products, self-
developed recipes, and the unwavering commitment to establishing a high
standard quality supervision and assurance system. In respect of supply,
production and distribution channels, quality control measures are improved
continuously in the pursuit of a first-class enterprise on a global scale in the
research and production of infant formula. The Group strictly follows national
standards to formulate a comprehensive quality assurance plan, which is fully
implemented on the corporate level, and strives to provide safe and premium
products to consumers. The Group is a leading enterprise in China’s infant
formula industry and sells various infant milk powder products under five well-
recognized brands, namely Yashily, Oushi Mengniu, Dumex, Arla and Scient,
to cater for the market demand from different consumer groups.

The Group also sells various types of nutrition food, including milk powder for
adults under the Mengniu brand, milk powder for adults and teenagers under
the Youyi brand, milk powder for adults under the Huanqging brand, cereal
under the Zhengwei brand, and soymilk powder and infant rice cereal under
the Yashily brand. The Group also plays a leading role in the nutrition food
market in China.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

The Group has been devoted to developing nutrition products trusted by
consumers, including brands enhancing infant health and growth, such as
Yashily, Oushi Mengniu, Dumex, Arla and Scient, and brands satisfying
adults’ need for nutrients, such as Youyi, Huanging and Zhengwei. The
business model of the Group is an integration of imported premium raw
materials of dairy products, imported premium infant formula products, self-
developed recipes, advanced production system and professional marketing
teams that are familiar with local consumer markets, which enables the Group
to supply trustworthy products to the mass of consumers.

AEENEBEALEARENSRAE

D@Eﬂﬁ%ﬂﬂ‘ﬁmﬁgﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬁ
ER BXIRERSS BARBISKFE
= ﬁﬂgg%ﬁﬁ§°ﬁﬁﬁ\iﬁﬂ%%
BERTH AEBETHNELEZERE
I R A BT BB 2 SR BC U7 4 B M B R

MEE - AEBBBETERREE %mi

%M

MEERENE XECXEEMEMEHET
KEMEBEERECEMNEENER - ZEE
ERTEENRETNNITERELE &

BRLEH BERF 2% Alal g R E
IAEXRRAANDBEHEERY AT INE
fmcomE TR BEREAMISER -

AEBTHESZEEERR BEEF R
BRAT - BIEmEEKARTDFERH  KRE
mERANH  ERmBRER KLt omEE
PHMBDRANE - AEEEPEHNES
oa T 35 I1 B B B M T o

EBRE

$%lﬁﬁ MEBEERHEEEHENERE
BRERELNTZEEREOELN BT
S ZX% A ERERBERRD
AEmERAERTE MEP\@W\E%%
mEEMARY - AEBENEBEAEAT
D@Eﬂﬁﬁﬂﬂ*ﬁﬂ@%ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ
Em BEMERED  SENEERRRAE
AHHEMESNEXEHERSERAER
RERXHBEERHABELRENER -



BEFERZERBRAT P HHE 2016

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Introduction by products

Infant formula products

The Group develops infant formula products to satisfy the health and nutrition
needs of infants and toddlers during daily feeding. Such products can serve
as a major supplementary source of nutrition to breast milk for infants and
toddlers. All the Group’s infant formula products are mainly made from
imported premium raw materials. The Group is devoted to developing infant
formula with the most ideal nutrition mix to closely cater to the needs of
infants and toddlers at different stages of their growth and development. The
Group has established different infant formula product lines aiming at target
customers of different consumption levels. The originally canned and originally
packaged imported organic “Baby & Me” launched through cooperation with
Arla Foods Group is originated from Denmark and targets ultra-high-end
market. Yashily’s “Super « -Golden”, “Ambery Golden”, Oushi Mengniu’s
organic “Rui Bu En” and Dumex’s “Diamor” possess quality nutrition elements
and target at consumers in the high-end market. The Group’s main product
Yashily’s “a -Golden”, together with Scient’s “Golden” and Oushi Mengniu’s
“Beauty”, focus on mid- to high-end consumer groups, while series such as
Dumex’s “Precinutri” , Scient’s “Ordinary Pack” and Oushi Mengniu’s “Oushi”
mainly focus on mid-end consumer groups. Yashily’s “Newwit” series and
Arla’s “Milex” mainly target the low- to mid-end market.

Tailored infant formula products

With the accelerating modernization of the nation, development of
industrialized construction and changes in environment, way of living and diet,
infant and toddlers in China are exposed to increasing health challenges. As a
professional of infant and toddler nutrition, the Group is not only satisfying
infants’ and toddlers’ need for general nutrition, but also possessing a series
of tailored infant formula products under the Dumex brand to cater to special
needs for nutrition of special infants and toddlers. Currently, the Dumex brand
of the Group boasts three series of tailored infant formula products:

— Products for Allergy: this category includes products for prevention of
allergy (HA) and treatment of allergy (PEPTI). HA products can
effectively guard infants and toddlers exposing to high risk of allergy
against such risk through semi-hydrolyzing techniques. PEPTI products
serve as an effective remedy to the allergy to protein in food of infants
and toddlers through deeply hydrolyzing techniques.

—  Products for Digestion: this category includes lactose-free formula (LF)
which would effectively avoid the vicious circle of diarrhoea due to
hypolactasia.

—  Products for Under-weight Newborn: this category includes formula for
low-birth-weight newborn babies (LBW) which would cater to their
needs for catching up with standards of growth.
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DTEEmMNA

820 B 7 I
AEBRENEYRETHHERTIERE
BHRAERBOBREET R IHHE
AEREPRMETEZERE - AKEME
mERPRETINERD T RZEREDE
ORK SKEBLBEAGKEBRNES P
B AN EEPREREREENTRABRS
2-AEBECRISFHTRBEEKRKFESME
BERErPMEBYRESTINEMRE A5 H
B Ara Foods R B A FMRERKE D AHKIE
REfl REAE EUEBSmmE: KL
MBERe-2K| [2RKZEZ] BERSF
BERIEHR] ZXAIBR] AREEER
TR -HESRHHEEEE TNERBELF
la-2%K ] UREBAT2E] B RF[X]
ZIFETBHYTRMBEER  ZXLIEHR
BE] BEIEEIRRERFEE]F R
TE2HEPRHBER BLANIEZ]I R
Arlal £ 7% E B E R EmBEER -

BN R IRE T
BEEPEMENBRERL TRILCERNER
RE AR KENE( EPEEHR
MR mE N EENE  NEEIERELD
REBER BT mEEYPREEF RN HE
TZXEEAEXRETRINEM WK
BHRNKREEFT R - BAIAKEZ X%
BTIE=ZRRIEXRETER:

- BERIER: BAEEBHERE®
(HA) 0 38 88 & E & (PEPTI) - HAZE @ i@
WAL KR LE - BRTED B &= B s
PEABEAR PEPTIER  BBFE
KBITE  EHUARERRYMEQ R -

- BIRIER: BREREIRESTE
an (LF) » AT LA 208t % FLAE T 52 51 A2 Y
PEIR BT

- REERARIEMR:
EREHERLBW) -

BARTEIEEL A
mEEEERER

09



10

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Interim Report 2016

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENmED (&)

Nutrition food

The Group also sells various types of nutrition food, including milk powder for
adults under the Mengniu brand, milk powder for adults and teenagers under
the Youyi brand, milk powder for adults under the Huanging brand, soymilk
powder and infant rice cereal under the Yashily brand, and cereal under the
Zhengwei brand. This product line includes products with different nutritional
mixes specially designed for consumers with special needs as well as other
products suitable for the general population.

Comprehensive brand upgrading and re-shaping

During the first half of 2016, the Group adopted the strategy of stabilizing the
brand of Yashily and building the brand of Arla swiftly, and completed the
differentiated business models and brand layouts, which enhanced the brand
visibility and influence of the Group continuously. Besides, with “New
Domestic Products, New Vitality” as brand claims, the Group organized
branding programs boasting both Chinese characteristics and great vitality so
that comprehensive brand upgrading and re-shaping were achieved.

In April 2016, the Group’s originally canned and packaged Yashily-branded
products from New Zealand were launched extensively in China. In order to
raise the turnover of goods, the Group organized new product
recommendation programs and consumer activities in key sales areas all over
the country in May and June, so as to focus on promotion and create a buzz
in the general public. The Group also pooled the resources of television, new
media and the print media to promote the products and realize its grand
launch. In respect of online media, the Group became the title sponsor of “The
Splendid Chinese Dialects” (%% FE3E), the first-ever program featuring
celebrities for conserving intangible culture in the country, broadcasted by the
“5+1 Alliance” (511 A F)), i.e. Changjiang New Satellite TV (K T #TE1%)—a
combination of local channels of five provinces including Hunan Economic TV
(BF4L4R), Hubei Integrated TV (#3b#R4&), Henan Metro TV (] #8m),
Anhui Economic TV (Z#4&48) and Jiangxi Public TV (T#2AH), together
with Hebei Economic TV (jaJ4b4%#8). In addition, the TV program was also
shown on the Internet via three popular video websites, namely iQIYI (B & )
PPS, Sohu (#4M) and Mango TV (F-£TV). “The Splendid Chinese Dialects”
was broadcasted via different TV channels and video websites in order to
reach the massive audience by different means. The Group also kicked off
offline campaigns. The Group started the super themed roadshow “A Brand
New Source of Vitality for Cute Babies” (B2 /& /1 AN[A) all over the country
to widen its promotion among consumers. Besides, the Group has launched
a brand new TV commercial in six key satellite TV channels with extensive
coverage of core areas in order to publicize its new image. The Group has
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

also invested in new media through advertisement in Moments of Wechat so
that the information about new products is being shown to target potential
customers. The Group also made efforts to build the reputation of its
products by teaser advertisement attracting a thousand mothers for a
thorough trial of products. By leveraging on the twofold promotion via
vertically integrated channels of mother-and-baby and digital media, the
Group strived to build up reputation among core consumers.

It is also worth mentioning that the overseas version of infant formula
products manufactured in Yashili’'s factory in New Zealand was launched in
New Zealand’s market in April 2016, the first-ever sale on shelf of a Chinese
milk powder brand in overseas market. “Super o -Golden” infant formula
under the Yashily brand was sold in three major supermarket chains of New
Zealand and will gradually cover approximately 390 supermarkets in New
Zealand. The simultaneous launch of the product in domestic and overseas
markets attracted great attention from local and foreign media. In order to
enhance the reputation and popularity of the brand, the Group became the
sole title sponsor of Lang Lang’s solo recital in Auckland and organized a
charity bazaar for children for helping “Heart Kids”.

In the era of “Internet +”, leveraging on the rapid development of Mobile
Internet and the change in consumers’ habit in receiving information, the
Group reaches target consumers in their fragmentized leisure hours through
multi-channels and means of disseminating which integrate new and
traditional media in order to arouse public awareness of the Group’s brands
through different aspects. Specifically, the Group cooperated with various
large, vertically integrated mother-and-baby websites, in order to strike a
balance between massive coverage of promotion and precise promotion. For
instance, the Group cooperated with Mama.cn (4545 48) to launch the “Millions
of Key Opinion Leaders Campaign”.

In respect of the strategic high-end product of Arla “Baby & Me” (& B #13),
the Group has strengthened its media exposure by new product introduction
and medical introduction meetings. The Group also engaged renowned
international visual artist Ms. Chen Man (F#)2) as spokesperson starring in the
Group’s viral videos and pictures broadcasted in key cities, enabling
consumers to have a taste of the utmost pureness of Arla “Baby & Me” from
Denmark. In addition, the Group also collaborated with Channel Young TV
Shanghai (£)8 (£ &) $828) in depth to conduct a free trial of ten thousand
tins of milk powder in their “Popular Gourmet” column, in order to build up
reputation among core consumers. The trial, which directly attracted traffic to
online and offline shops, lasted for two weeks and recorded 400 million views.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENmED (&)

Product research, development and upgrade

During the first half of 2016, leveraging on the quality milk source and high
standard of the factory in New Zealand, the Group’s research and
development center developed imported infant formula of various series and
brands, which enriched and enhanced the Group’s product lines and
provided strong product support for market expansion and competitiveness.
The research and development center also carried out product nutrition
upgrade as well as product packaging upgrade and improvement for the
existing Youyi series of modified milk powder in order to fulfill the prevailing
consumers’ demand for trendy packaging rather than merely focusing on
product nutrition. The Group’s Oushi Mengniu brand continued to expand in
the organic product line. Apart from the existing domestic organic infant
formula “Rui Bu En”, imported organic infant formula being developed has
entered a substantive preparation stage and will soon be launched in the
market.

For research of basal nutrition, the Group has been committed to studying
the composition analysis of macronutrients in breast milk and has completed
tests and analysis of macronutrients, fatty acid profiles and amino acid
profiles in breast milk samples from three domestic cities, which provided
basal nutrition data for future development of infant formula; furthermore, the
Group cooperated with domestic and overseas renowned nutritionists,
carried out multi-center clinical researches on newly developed domestic
infant formula and imported infant formula respectively and demonstrated the
beneficial effects of the newly developed products on growth and nutritional
needs of infants through clinical tests.

Acceleration of channel transformation

In the first half of 2016, the Group adopted active measures to facilitate
optimization of sales model, channel transformation and market promotion
through its marketing management team boasting extensive market
experience and terminal control capability.

In the first half year, the Group’s channel transformation focused on
expansion of the mother-and-baby store channel. The Group has formed a
KMBS (Key Mother-and-baby Stores) team that focuses on domestic large
and medium scale mother-and-baby chain stores and mainly promotes
imported original New Zealand products. Since the KMBS team’s formation
in March, new account information reported by the team from April to June
involved hundreds of mother-and-baby chain store systems and covered
thousands of stores. In the future, continuous efforts will be made in
expanding key mother-and-baby chain stores with the aim to build up
mother-and-baby store channels that match imported products. Increasing
shelf sales ratio and driving up average sales per point of sales will also be a
focus at the next stage.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

For e-commerce, the Group has transformed from a single sales platform to a
consumer-oriented, multi-dimensional business platform which covers
consumer insights and research, market dynamics tracking analysis, content
and hotspot marketing, community reputation marketing, media inputs,
platform accurate marketing and making the final sales. The Group has
focused on the three largest customers, Tmall, Suning and JD.COM. The
Group’s sales during the “618” event of JD.COM increased 65% as
compared to the same period last year. Tactically, the Group focused on hot
selling products customized to the characteristics of platforms, increased
exposure and bolstered repeat purchases in order to enhance sales
contribution. The Group actively promoted social vertical business, effectively
attracted new customers through activities such as trial invitations and
established a stereo marketing model which is founded on brand
communication, new customer attraction and channel cooperation.
Consumer analysis, brand essence, hotspot and high spot have been
combined to carry out content marketing and enhance brand popularity and
preference so as to realize purchases.

Resource integration

Production capacity planning

The Group’s factory in New Zealand commenced production in November
2015, which further expanded the Group’s production capacity and leeway
for product allocation. To realize reasonable resource allocation, increase
production capacity utilization and reduce production and operation costs,
the Group carried out production capacity planning involving each of its
factories. Among them, strategic factories will serve as the Group’s future
core production bases while tactical factories will carry out timely and flexible
adjustments in accordance with the Group’s future demand and industrial
development trends. For factories failing to fulfil the Group’s long term
strategy and tactical needs, the Group carried out reassessments and
inspections and studied several proposals to consider asset disposals and
asset activation.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENmED (&)

Supply chain consolidation and upgrade

During the first half of 2016, supply chain consolidation and upgrade were
carried out in an orderly manner. For production, each factory of the Group
executed unified production index measurement criteria and enhanced
control and management towards factories on group level; for quality, while
over-fulfilling each index, the Group also improved external audit procedures,
unified system auditing and certification, unified analysis methods to
continuously strengthen analysis capability, consummated traceability system
to enhance product monitoring ability, improved risk management system,
followed up on newly promulgated laws and regulations and all risk items in
real time, and updated and ameliorated risk-related external sampling plans;
for planning and logistics, they were closely coordinated with sales activities,
with production and delivery schedules and product dispatching well planned
to meet demand for deliveries. Besides, production plans and procedures
were consistently being consummated to raise rationality and efficiency; for
procurement, cost competitiveness was achieved by the Group through
strategic procurement and optimization.

Consolidation of front and back offices and enhancement of
organization efficiency

With the Group’s “must-win battle” as guidance for fulfiling key tasks in
organization reform and efficiency enhancement, the human resources center
actively promoted the establishment of “3 + 1” marketing and sales affairs
divisions, the planning of supply chain consolidation project and the
consolidation of back office functions.

To promote the establishment of “3 + 1” marketing and sales affairs divisions,
the human resources center coordinated with marketing and sales
departments to set up organizational structure, rationalize department
functions and rearrange staff. Through streamlining organization and staff,
overall operation efficiency of marketing and sales departments was
enhanced. Meanwhile, according to the Group’s requirements for channel
upgrade by the marketing and sales departments, nationwide establishment
and formation of regional channel transformation teams were fostered.

In accordance with the Group’s planning and requirements for supply chain
consolidation, the human resources center, together with the supply chain
center, designed the post-consolidation organization structure and division of
responsibilities and formulated staff arrangement proposals, which were
reported and approved.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

For consolidation of back office functions, human resources teams of Yashili
and Oushi Mengniu carried out in-depth researches and discussion on each
of human resources functional modules through seminars, communication
meetings and otherwise and issued corresponding integration proposals. The
human resources center completed the design of post-consolidation grading
system, consummated remuneration strategies, standardized and unified
welfare projects, thereby laying good foundations for consolidation.

Outstanding quality control

The Group’s extensive resources consolidation provides solid guarantee for
the Group’s excellent product quality. The Group has been committed to
building and consistently improving the comprehensive quality management
system of the whole value chain from procurement to sales. In respect of
supplier selection, the Group insisted on selecting suppliers with higher
international brand recognition to secure the supply of premium and reliable
raw materials and finished goods; in respect of hardware inputs, each of the
Group’s subsidiaries spends huge sums purchasing advanced inspection and
such as high performance liquid
chromatographs, gas-mass spectrometer and so on; in respect of daily
analysis, the Company strictly performs analysis on every batch of products.
At least 5 samples are extracted from each batch and analyzed for

analysis equipment every year,

approximately 70 parameters. Safety is ensured through multiple layers of
inspections and analysis. Production is guided strictly following international
standards in order to ensure product quality.

The Group insisted on quality management from raw materials to finished
goods of each product being carried out rigidly pursuant to the following
principles: (1) carry out stringent supplier screening and at the same time
regularly assess and examine suppliers every year and timely eliminate
suppliers that no longer meet the Group’s requirements to ensure the
Group’s implementation of the concept of “management from product
source”; (2) procure domestic and overseas premium raw and auxiliary
materials and carry out analysis and controls over raw materials strictly
following corporate internal control standard which is stricter than the national
standards to ensure raw materials entering the factories completely meet the
requirements; (3) adopt comprehensive and reasonable nutritious and safe
recipes and use internationally advanced production equipment for
production; (4) rigidly manage in-process quality to ensure each step meets
standard parameter requirements; (5) under the stringent product output
analysis system, products are delivered on a batch-by-batch basis only after
they have passed analysis to ensure all manufactured products completely
meet the requirements; (6) continuously attract outstanding talents to carry
out efficient production and quality control while at the same time provide
internal production and quality control personnel with continuous expertise
training and education for them to constantly be equipped with the latest
knowledge.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENmED (&)

In April 2016, the Group passed the milk powder audit by Guangdong Food
and Drug Administration, gained high recognition from experts and was rated
as a manufacturer with sound production and corporate management. In
June 2016, the Group’s products including adult milk powder, soymilk
powder and oatmeal passed the reassessment with regards to food
production license and were granted the latest “SC” production license.

Human resources

In the first half of the year, the Group actively promoted reform and
transformation, and speeded up the promotion and implementation of
standardized and flexible management concepts. Human resources reforms
commenced orderly based on the three major themes of “People, System,
Culture”.

The Group actively boosted the core values of “Integrity, Innovation, Passion
and Openness” and promoted and propagandized corporate culture among
its staff through culture workshops, quiz competitions, speech contests,
visual and audio communications, carriers of culture, cultural activities and so
on. Apart from culture promotion, the Group also initiated the “Caring
Campaign” to express the care and love from the Company to its staff in
three aspects, namely staff, their relatives and everybody. Under such
campaign, human resources not only regulated and optimized the welfare
system, but also innovated welfare programs that closely care its staff, such
as parents’ leave for Children’s Day, parents’ leave for school starting day,
maternal room and health lectures, in order to enhance staff’'s devotion and
their own well being.

In the first half of the year, apart from completing the establishment of
organization structure, the division of responsibilities and arrangement of staff
for “3 + 1” marketing and sales affairs divisions and post-consolidation supply
chains, the human resources center also followed up on re-arrangements of
factory staff as the Group implemented its overall production capacity plan
and transferred production activities between factories. Meanwhile, initial
preparations for construction of the human resources information system
have also been initiated.

To secure talent pool construction and guarantee the healthy development of
future structure upon consolidation, the Group proactively fostered its talent
counting project to identify the Group’s high potential talents, and also
established its successors program for key positions. Meanwhile, a series of
talents acquisition, incentive and development programs were planned and
commenced based on issues encountered in talents counting with a view to
providing impetus for the Group’s talents development. Furthermore, through
carrying out senior management workshops and higher order leadership
training, the Group facilitated mergence of Yashili, Oushi Mengniu and
Dumex’s senior management and leadership enhancement.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Social responsibility

During the first half of 2016, the Group made persistent efforts in social
charity activities and extensively spread the love of “Operation Firefly”.

On Mother’s Day in May, the Group carried out “Riding with Love on Mothers’
Day” in Guangzhou, satisfying many mothers’ travel needs by escorting them
home for free from four hospitals including Guangzhou Women and Children’s
Medical Center, Guangzhou Children’s Hospital, Guangzhou Women and
Baby Hospital and Guangdong Health Institute. The activity lasted for 8 hours
and had shuttled mothers home for 281 times, sending more than 1,000
mothers the warmest festival greetings.

In June, as the sponsor of Lang Lang’s solo recital in New Zealand, Yashili
donated 100 concert tickets for “Heart Kids” fund raising charity sale. In
addition, Yashili donated at least 200 cans of Yashily “Super o -Golden” milk
powder to “Heart Kids” every month to support the milk powder need of the
families with children diagnosed with congenital heart diseases at nil
consideration.

Besides, the Group cooperated with Xin Xi Shi Bao ({Z £.k55R) to launch the
project of “Pay Attention to Troubled Children in the Frontline” in order to
show care for abandoned babies and children lacking breast milk. The Group
intended to donate milk powder upon discovering and confirming their
situations, help pull them through plights and offer prompt and timely care.

Corporate governance and investor relations

The Group considers that effective communication with shareholders,
investors and prospective investors is the essence for enhancing investor
relations and allowing investors to understand the business performance and
strategies of the Group. The Group maintains communication and exchanges
idea with investors through various channels and means such as on-site
receptions, telephone conferences, non-deal roadshows and investment
summits of securities companies.

To foster effective communication, the Group has set up a website (www.
yashili.hk), which posts the latest information on its financial information,
corporate governance practices and other data available for public inspection.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENmED (&)

FUTURE PROSPECT

Policy implications

Recipe Registration Requirement would officially be implemented as of 1
October 2016, which will have profound effects on the industry. Recipe
Registration Requirement requires that each enterprise, in principle, not to
have more than 3 products series and 9 product recipes. This policy does not
simply require enterprises to reduce their number of recipes, but drives them
to invest more in research and development, enhance hardware and software
management as well as recipe management, leading dairy companies to
focus more on branding and product operating quality, which eventually
benefits consumers in allowing them to make informed purchasing decisions.
The implementation of Recipe Registration Requirement will heighten the
entry barrier of infant formula industry, which in turn will improve chaotic
situations of recipes and brands significantly. The concentration of brands
and the industry will be further increased. Market competition will tend to be
more positive. Enterprises with a national presence are likely to benefit more
from it and become stronger competitors in market shares, while the
elimination of small enterprises and small brands will be accelerated.

The new cross-border e-commerce policy, which is based on the List of
Cross-Border E-Commerce Retail Imports, is expected to continue its cooling
down effect on the hot cross-border e-commerce market after the transitional
period and re-imposition. In the long term, the launch of the new policy is a
further regulation on cross-border e-commerce, which will also promote the
healthy and orderly development of the entire industry.

In 2016, the “nationwide two-child” policy has been officially implemented.
The National Health and Family Planning Commission of the PRC preliminarily
estimated that against the backdrop of the “nationwide two-child” policy, the
number of newborn babies would reach 17.5 million to 21.0 million each year
during the period of “13th Five-Year-Plan Period”. This created a favorable
condition for the stable market demand for infant formula milk powder. Under
the gradual influences of the “nationwide two-child” policy especially in the
second half of the year, it is expected that birth rate of the whole year of 2016
will recover and that the number of newborn babies will significantly increase.
The third- and fourth-tier cities and townships and rural areas where living
pressure is lower are likely to create a baby boom, boosting local milk powder
demand, hence shoring up the sales of domestic milk powder brands which
enjoy competitive strengths in the supermarket channel in these areas.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Industry trend

The infant formula market in PRC will be developing with diversity and the
consolidation and concentration of industry will speed up. Domestic brands
and overseas brands continue to co-exist, the e-commerce channel and
offline channels will gradually integrate, and products are increasingly high-
end appealing yet prices are trending down. The entire infant formula industry
is in a critical stage of reform, transformation and integration.

In the second half of 2016 and going forward, the development in Mobile
Internet will further accelerate the concentration and integration of the milk
powder industry, giving rise to more precise target positioning by milk powder
products. The e-commerce channel will be extended to townships and rural
areas as well as small communities, and will continue to maintain a stable
growth. However, affected by the new tax policy on overseas online shopping
and effectiveness of strengthened regulatory measures on cross-border
e-commerce online purchase of bonded imported goods, the channel will be
cooled down to some extent; in respect of the traditional supermarket
channel, the reduction in the number of stores operating infant formula and
change in consumers’ shopping behaviors will continue to result in the
channel losing growth momentum and shrinking; the mother-and-baby store
channel is expected to maintain a relatively stable growth, but will be subject
to consolidation due to restrictions imposed by store size, capital turnover
and management level. The emergence of overseas online shopping,
overseas intermediate purchase and cross-border e-commerce will bring new
influences and clashes on the milk powder industry.

The low international raw milk powder price and changes in domestic
competitive environment will intensify the competition among milk powder
enterprises. Milk powder enterprises will adopt various ways and measures,
such as adjusting marketing strategies, launching diversified products,
strengthening channel expansion and development and mergers and
acquisitions, with a view to changing their operating conditions and occupying
advantageous market space and competitive position.

Under the catalyst of competition in product prices among enterprises, the
general price level of the traditional infant formula products will be affected.
The room of traditional milk products in high-end category will gradually
shrink, while organic infant formula and pure goat milk protein infant formula
will enter into high-end categories due to rarity of resources.

BEENWHED N (&)

TEBZ
THREYRESTHMTISE2Z T NEE
EETHRRBY BHERMERINREHL
7 EAREEBKTRERSG  EmmmE
EREBLT BEZHEADHITRENE
B g EAmmsy-

2016 F THFRAK BHEBBOHERE
E—FMBEPHITENETNES  IHE
mEEENL EHRBEMIBENNE
REMARE —E L E - B X788 HHH &
FEUANBELFFEREMNEABERETR
BEBRUENEENEENERNLE R
BRE-—ERE ERPRBRETH KEE
DRDMPIEBRENR IR EEEBDITR
WELERBERZ NV EEZHR FER
BEABRFSHEERELEESS  EXHR

FIERIE B2REREBKTERE BB
b EREABIE 88 BIRKERERE

BHEE BEHINTEEEFOZEM
mE-

BEERHMDHEROECETARBARS
BRENEL EENHEEHNRFRER
e BRPMEEBBNELHER HLZ
TALE M MR RERBERIARFHKE
ELRBEAMENR - AR LLEAN - BEE
B AT 5 2 B MR S AL o

ELEERBRENELHBET  Ei2
PRETDHERBERIIIZE EHRTH
MESHmBENZERESEHBE - A%
BROHH AFLEZOBROHAELERN
EHiEmEESHmE-

11



20

Yashili International Holdings Ltd Interim Report 2016

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Company strategies

Based on policy implications, changes in industry trend and the operating
results of the Group in the first half of 2016, the Group will work on strategies
such as strengthening branding upgrade and management,
product deployment and enhancing research and development, speeding up
channel transformation and management optimization, rationalizing capacity
allocation, promoting resources consolidation and coordination, with a view
to expanding market share while improving the overall profitability of the
Group in the second half of 2016. Set out below are the main measures:

optimizing

Strengthen branding upgrade and management

Branding is one of the most important assets of an enterprise, a reflection of
core values and corporate competence and evidence of customers’
recognition of products and services. In the second half of 2016, the Group
will adopt the strategies of stabilizing Yashily, developing Dumex and rapidly
building Arla, with a view to completing differentiated business models and
branding portfolios. The Group will seek to reach target consumer groups in
their fragmentized leisure hours by conducting multiple-layers of advertising
and promotion that combine traditional media with new media and cover both
online and offline media to gain attention from the public. The Group will
enhance customer loyalty through its mature channel operating and
advertising capabilities, thereby strongly supporting the continuous growth of
sales of its existing products and enhancing the core competence of brands
S0 as to build up strong brand assets.

In respect of traditional media, the Group will continue the extensive
placement of advertisement in provincial television stations, satellite TV
stations and video websites across the country. In addition, the Group will
select the most influential domestic key printed media to roll out public
relations events together with a view to enhancing the reputation of brands.
Especially for originally packaged imported new products from New Zealand,
the Group will expand relevant coverage in media in depth and in breadth by
holding new product recommendation and consumer campaigns nationwide
to come into more effective contact with targeted consumer groups.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In respect of new media, the Group will continue to put greater emphasis on
content output from “Two Ws” by utilizing innovative marketing means, such
as creative videos, advertisement with mysterious elements and socialized
media marketing, to enhance its interactive communications with consumers
and expand its consumer groups by words of mouth. Moreover, the Group
will enhance the penetration of its brands in Mobile Internet terminals, and
through such ways as H5 and APP to get acquainted with consumers and
enhance the extent and intensity of brand promotion.

In respect of offline interaction with consumers, the Group will launch national
themed consumers’ activities and roadshows by combining the Olympic
Games and NBA tournaments to deepen the selling point of the Group’s
product — vitality, and increase brand influence. Branding upgrade will be
achieved by the three top brands, Yashili, Arla and Dumex, jointly taking part
in exhibition CBME.

In respect of “new domestic product” image, promotions will be carried out to
highlight the Group’s commitment into research of breast milk in China by
way of social welfare activities through an investigation project on breast milk
nutrition in 8 cities in China, sharing of social responsibilities, appreciation of
breast milk and love for consumers, thereby enhancing brand reputation.

In respect of international brand image, the Group will adhere to the brand
concept of “New Domestic Products, New Vitality” and use the opportunity of
originally canned and originally packaged new products imported from the
New Zealand factory to launch intensive promotional campaigns with all sorts
of resources through various media channels, so as to pave the way for
Yashili’s brand upgrading. This aims at enhancing consumers’ attention to
and confidence in domestic milk powder brands and thus strengthening
Yashili’s internationalized brand image.
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Optimize product deployment and enhance research and
development

The Group will continue to plan precisely the allocation of Yashily, Arla,
Dumex, Oushi Mengniu and Scient products for different markets and
channels, so as to support healthy growth of the overall business and
establish unique attractiveness of each brand. Yashily, Scient and Oushi
Mengniu target key markets, while Arla and Dumex target coastal high-end
cities; Yashily will simultaneously expand into second- and third-tier cities.
Among which, Yashily will penetrate into all channels, all districts by its core
product “Super «a -Golden”; Arla will strive to stand out in ultra-high end
markets with its core product organic “Baby & Me”, focusing on top five
cities, Beijing, Shanghai, Nanjing, Suzhou and Hangzhou, and enter into the
large mother-and-baby chain store channel focusing on promoting e-commerce
channel; Dumex will be positioned at high-end market with “Diamor” as its
key product, complemented with “Precinutri” to occupy the low- to mid- end
market, targeting coastal cities.

In respect of new product development, the Group will continue to expand its
organic product line from organic infant formula milk powder to organic adult
milk powder and prepare for the development of organic infant rice cereal. In
addition, the Group will launch to the market as soon as possible new
versions of the developed Youyi milkk powder series with upgraded nutritions
and packaging.

In respect of basic nutrition research, the Group will speed up the clinical
research progress of new infant formula milk powder product in China with a
view to completing the research as early as possible; to pursue the clinical
research of originally packaged imported infant milk powder and enter into
experimental stage as soon so possible.

In addressing the national Recipe Registration Requirement, the research
center will actively respond to the new policy in preparing the registration of
infant formula milk powder products.

1BALE f i B B2 hn KA 58 Fe 3

AEBRSEEHETHLHN  Ada- X%
BMERTALERRBERD T DRE
EITREME AXRHEREBFAERRIL
R TESEREFAEREN - BLH -
B BURFHREELTS  Ala- ZELM
BaBRHmET BLARFHR - =ZHH
MeHEp BEMUTBERe-ER|BRLE
o HEREREZERGD  AdaABHIE
RERIBZLVER WRESHTH N
BREOLAHT R LB -BR &M N
M EARBEHGERBEABFEHRDE
BRE: ZRLBABRIAROER ELS
i BWATBERE EEPERTS - MR
BT

HERRAEIE ASEREETHRERE
MR RARBYRENDHEREMREA
BB A W3 40 A0 8 # 82 20 52K 40 /O B 35 R0 A
BRI BREGCHAENEIRRTI AR
DHEBMBRARRANOHERERTIS -

EMEBEMETH  AEBEHMRE AL L
RESTOHFTERNERAARER HEE
P EEORRENERETHHOE
REATE - BREAERS -

REHBERE M HAEPLEERE
EERHFB BHREREGEBRHRET D
) EE mh BC 77 WO RE A o



BEFERZERBRAT P HHE 2016

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Accelerate channel transformation and management
optimization

In the second half of 2016, the Group will continue to work around channel
transformation and management optimization.

For channel transformation, the Group rapidly increased the contribution by
the mother-and-baby store channel by implementing an “all staff engaging in
mother-and-baby store channel” program. In the first half of the year, a KMBS
team has been established, targeting nationwide medium and large mother-
and-baby chain stores by the originally canned and originally packaged
products from New Zealand. In the second half of the year, the Group will set
up a department for “direct sales of mother-and-baby store channel” project,
encouraging all sales staff to engage in the mother-and-baby store channel,
with a view to filling the gap in single mother-and-baby stores and small chain
stores, which the Company will supply products directly and enjoy large share
of profit. Sales redirected staff will change to partner after their loss of office,
who will undertake 1 to 2 county markets and start direct sales of mother-
and-baby store channel with receipt of development and maintenance
commission. No investment is needed, but life-long benefits could be
obtained with development for only once. Through the entrepreneurship of
direct sales of mother-and-baby store channel, team potential can be
boosted while promoting channel transformation. In the second half of the
year, the Group will focus on the three largest customers accounting for 75%
of e-commerce sale in China, namely Tmall, JD.COM and Suning, deepen
cooperation with them so as to prepare for the “November 11” event and tap
leading domestic brand sales on these platforms; strengthening strategic
cooperation with national e-commerce platforms, actively realize diverse
innovative sales of brand features and cross-categories joint sales; reinforce
work around attracting new customers, drive up its activeness by referrals on
vertical platforms, enhance purchases driven by brand promotion; explore
projects such as CunTao and channel penetration, to build a new sound
cross-border e-commerce model.

|n

For management optimization, the Group will rationalize mechanisms and
procedures, establish accountability distribution, to achieve strict
management and effective management; focus on building up a membership
management system which linked with SAP, EMP and field support in order
to achieve an information-based management on all procedures of each can
of milk powder, from purchase, production, load-in load-out inventory, place
in store, sales, to redeem consumers’ points, interaction, as well as functions
such as comprehensive budgeting management, accurate allocation of costs,
efficient business operation, load-in load-out inventory management,
protection against intervention, instant interaction of consumers. Besides, the
membership management system can attain purchase order and settlement
functions of directly-supplied mother-and-baby stores.
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Resources integration

Rationalize capacity allocation, improve capacity utilization
The Group currently has various production bases including New
Zealand factory, Horinger factory, Shanghai factory and Chaozhou
factory. Based on long- and short-term strategies and capacity
planning, the Group will scientifically rationalize production of infant
formula milk powder and other products. According to the existing
capacity of equipment and packing line in each factory, the Group will
reasonably match corresponding capacity requirement with products,
S0 as to increase utilization rate of equipment and production capacity,
save costs and also satisfy specific product’s quantitative production
requirement. Additionally, the Group plans to add new production line
on the advantage of low production cost of individual factory. While the
Group further rationalizes and improves its products, better use of
capacity and enhanced production deployment will be achieved.

Promote supply chain consolidation and synergetic effect
According to its strategies, the Group will fully leverage on its synergetic
effect through rationalization and consolidation of various brands under
the Group, so as to produce and operate at low cost. Purchases are
categorized by business categories. For logistics, the Group has multi—
point warehouses and highly efficient transport to provide prompt and
efficient all-rounded services for market and customers. A new supply
chain structure of the Group was implemented from 1 July, which
consolidated and optimized plans, purchase, production, warehousing
and logistics, complemented with the Group’s aim of building up a full
SAP information base to achieve “four changes”, namely faster
responses to market, concentration of production plans, rationalization
of brands and higher working efficiency of staff. In respect of freshness
of products, the Group strives to produce and deliver in the same
month through precise matching of market end, channels and treasury,
early planned production and highly efficient delivery, thereby increasing
the competitiveness of products in the market. In respect of costs, the
Group will scientifically allocate production based on each factory’s
capacity to mass produce a single product category. For inventory, the
Group guarantees safe inventory while reduces original and
supplemental inventories and finished goods inventories through
precise planning. Through establishing large platforms to optimize
suppliers and logistics partners, the Group is identifying strategic
partners to expand its economies of scale. By adopting benchmark
management and entire chain improvement projects, the Group can
precisely control production, so as to lower production costs and
increase the competitiveness of products.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Group will continue to leverage on the strong support and more
advanced platform rendered by Mengniu Group, COFCO and Danone
Group, so as to sufficiently leverage on its synergetic effect and achieve
support and cooperation among different parties in respect of branding,
resources, management and technology to the largest extent, for
example, by leveraging on its strong bargaining power to save
purchase costs and by exploring cooperation in production to further
improve capacity utilization etc. The Group is devoted to building up an
entire value ecological chain for the dairy industry with production
capacity synergies, complementary advantages and resources sharing.

Guarantee outstanding quality

Rational systematic consolidation of production capacity and supply
chain will further provide guarantee of producing high quality products
for the Group. The Group will consolidate quality management
resources of each company in different aspects for the Group, which
includes drawing upon the extensive experience of Dumex previously
under Danone Group on quality management and the quality
management rationale of Mengniu Group. The Group will unify every
standard within the Group, including raw material standards, audit
standards for suppliers, covering Dumex and Oushi Mengniu, etc. The
main laboratory of the Group will continue to conduct CNAS
reassessments, so as to increase the number of approved projects and
ensure high inspection level.

The Group will continuously adhere to strict quality control over every
product from raw material to end product analysis and thorough
monitoring on the entire supply chain from procurement to production
and to distribution, to ensure every product is 100% up to standards
and fresh with a view to providing high quality, safe and premium
products to the mass consumers.

The Group will continue to participate actively in international programs
and projects that are conducive to enhance product quality and safety.
The Group will raise the level of its food safety control in line with
international standard. The Group will also continue to strengthen
cooperation with independent third-party authorities, supervision and
inspection authorities to play its part in promoting the healthy and
orderly development of China’s dairy industry as a whole.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, the revenue of the Group amounted
to RMB1,146.5 million (same period of 2015: RMB1,464.8 million),
representing a decrease of 21.7% from the same period last year.

Revenue by brand and product category
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For the six months ended 30 June

B Z6H30R1L61E A
2016 2015 Percentage
RMB million RMB million change
ARBEERT | ARBBET )
Yashily infant formula M2 ) R T I 486.0 774.4 (37.2%)
Arla infant formula Arla 82 %) 52 Bd 77 8 i) 67.7 21.2 219.3%
Scient infant formula e B 88 2 5 Be 75 9 ¥ 59.2 1115 (46.9%)
Oushi Mengniu infant formula Bt A8 40 R BT A0 D 162.7 154.7 5.2%
Dumex infant formula ZERGLHZE DY 49.6 — —
Nutrition food products and others & & R f K E b 321.3 403.0 (20.3%)
Total @t 1,146.5 1,464.8 (21.7%)

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, sales revenue realized by the Yashily
brand infant formula products amounted to RMB486.0 million (same period of
2015: RMB774.4 million), representing a decrease of 37.2% from that of the
same period last year; sale revenue realized by the Arla brand infant formula
products amounted to RMB67.7 milion (same period of 2015: RMB21.2
million), representing an increase of 219.3% from that of the same period last
year; sales revenue realized by the Scient brand infant formula products
amounted to RMB59.2 million (same period of 2015: RMB111.5 million),
representing a decrease of 46.9% from that of the same period last year;
sales revenue realized by Oushi Mengniu brand infant formula products
amounted to RMB162.7 million (same period of 2015: RMB154.7 million),
representing an increase of 5.2% from that of the same period last year; sales
revenue realized by Dumex brand infant formula products, which was
consolidated in June this year, amounted to RMB49.6 million.

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, sales revenue realized by nutrition
food products and others amounted to RMB321.3 million (same period of
2015: RMB403.0 million), representing a decrease of 20.3% as compared to
the same period last year.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The decrease in sales revenue of the Group was mainly due to: (1) the
acceleration of the shrinking of the modern and traditional channels
compromised the Group’s existing competitive strengths in these channels; (2)
during the first half of 2016, the Group continued to deal with the sales model
transformation of the mother-and-baby store channel and the e-commerce
channel whereby the implementation effect of the new marketing strategies
require time and cost input; (3) the Group stepped up its sales efforts in the
first half of 2016 to cope with the intensified market competition; and (4) the
Group was proactively consolidating its product lines in response to the
impact brought by the registration law on infant formula, and such
consolidation affected the sales of some products to a certain extent.

During the first half of the year, the Group introduced an experienced
marketing management team which accelerated its consolidation and
adopted proactive initiatives, including the reinforcement of internal marketing
management, the optimization of sales model, channels transformation and
continuous focus on targeted products. At the same time, the Group also
achieved progress in the integration of the back office management and
supply chain of the Group. It is anticipated that the effectiveness and benefits
of such integration will be gradually realized during the second half of the
year.

Gross profit

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, the Group recorded a gross profit of
RMB580.5 million (same period of 2015: RMB721.8 million), representing a
decrease of 19.6% as compared to the same period last year. The gross
profit margin was 50.6%, representing an increase of 1.3%.

Selling and distribution expenses

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, the Group generated selling and
distribution expenses of RMB493.4 million (same period of 2015: RMB628.8
million), representing a decrease of 21.5% from the same period last year.
Selling and distribution expense rate was 43.0% (same period of 2015:
42.9%) for the first half of 2016, basically the same level in both periods.

Administrative expenses

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, administration expenses amounted
to RMB159.9 million (same period of 2015: RMB84.6 million), representing an
increase of 89.0% from the same period last year, mainly attributable to the
underutilized production capacity of New Zealand Yashili during the year,
resulting in temporary shut down of some production lines and, therefore,
relevant expenses incurred were accounted for as administrative expenses.
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Net finance income

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, net finance income amounted to
RMB70.8 million (same period of 2015: RMB98.5 million). The decrease in net
finance income of 28.1% from the same period last year was mainly
attributable to the decrease in the capital balance after the payment of the
consideration for the acquisition of Oushi Mengniu in December last year and
the decrease in overall interest rate during the year.

Income tax expenses

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, the income tax expenses of the
Group amounted to RMB-27.7 milion (same period of 2015: RMB14.1
million), and the effective income tax rate was 218.1% (same period of
2015:11.4%). The decrease in income tax expenses was mainly attributable
to the impact arising from utilization of unrecognized tax losses in prior year
by Oushi Mengniu and Dumex, both the subsidiaries of the Group, during the
current period and the fact that the interest income received by the Group in
Hong Kong was not subject to profits tax.

Inventory

As at 30 June 2016, the balance of inventory of the Group amounted to
RMB752.3 million (31 December 2015: RMB641.0 million), and the increase
in inventory was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales for the first half of
2016 as compared to expectations and the impact arising from the
acquisition of Dumex during the current period.

Other financial assets

As at 30 June 2016, other financial assets included wealth management
products of RMB299.9 million, which were principal guaranteed and with
anticipated annualized yields of 2.6% to 3.3% (31 December 2015: 2.6% to
4.0%); in addition, wealth management products and trust products of
RMB120.0 million in total, which were non-principal guaranteed and with
anticipated annualized yields of 3.5% to 10.0% (31 December 2015: 4.0% to
10.0%), were purchased.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Trade and bills receivables

As at 30 June 2016, the Group’s trade and bills receivables amounted to
RMB160.9 million (31 December 2015: RMB71.8 million). During the first half
of 2016, the trade receivables turnover days were 25 days (same period of
2015: 8 days), which increased by 17 days as compared to the same period
in 2015. The increase in turnover days was mainly attributable to the increase
in receivables from customers of Key Account generated from acquisition of
Dumex in June during the period. Excluding the effect of Dumex, trade and
bills receivables turnover days of Yashili Group were substantially the same as
that in the same period last year.

Human resources and employees’ remuneration

As at 30 June 2016, the Group had a total of 4,362 full-time employees (30
June 2015: 5,409). The total staff cost for the period was approximately
RMB209.7 million (same period of 2015: RMB222.6 million). The decrease in
total staff cost was mainly due to the decrease in headcount, as the Group
streamlined its structure and organization.

Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2016, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (31
December 2015: Nil).

Capital commitment

As at 30 June 2016, the Group’s total capital commitment was RMB11.2
million (31 December 2015: RMB1,085.4 million). The decrease was mainly
attributable to the investment commitment for proposed acquisition of Dumex
in 2015.
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Use of net proceeds from Initial Public Offering

The Company’s net proceeds from Initial Public Offering amounted to
approximately RMB1,965.8 million after deduction of relevant expenses. The
Company had applied these net proceeds as disclosed in the section “Future
plans and use of proceeds” in the prospectus dated 30 October 2010.
Therefore, the use of net proceeds as of 30 June 2016 is set out as below:
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Items HE

end of 2015 30 June 2016 30 June 2016
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2015 F K 6H830H IF 6H30H 1t
A &) A 618 A & A 618 A K8 A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTTT ARBT R

Expansion of production capacity for B 7 3% A 82 4h 52 B2 77 40 #)

infant formula and LEBERMZER

nutrition food products 161,434 7,514 158,720
Acquisition of integrated dairy WERE R &R 5
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production of raw milk and EEMNETEHEEAR

raw milk powder and establishment A ERRE

of vertically-integrated production

facilities overseas — — =
Promotional activities in television BEREBRRITE EwmE

networks and websites of popular WBuh o AR EEHS SRR

baby nursing forums as well as Ko H b BNl 4 B8 ) 5

major magazines, newspapers and EH

other printing media - — -
Enhancement on the Group’s research 12 5 7~ £ & & iff 3£ 68 /)

and development capabilities 26,351 2,361 23,990
Total A 187,785 9,875 177,911




The board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of the Company
would like to present their interim report together with the unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the six months ended 30 June 2016.

INTERIM DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend an interim dividend for the six months ended
30 June 2016 (for the six months ended 30 June 2015: Nil), and recommends
to retain the earnings for the period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES AS AT 30 JUNE 2016

As at 30 June 2016, the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
and their respective associates had the following interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which
were required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO, including interests and short positions which the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO, or which were required to be and are
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”):

1. Directors’ interests in the shares of China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (“Mengniu
Dairy”) (being a holding company of the
Company) as at 30 June 2016
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percentage to

the issued
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest Number of shares share capital
HEBITRA
EEnA 55 REtE RO&E BAOBEDE
Sun Yiping Beneficial owner 13,793,204% 0.35%"
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Notes:

1) All the above shares are held in long position (as defined under Part XV of
the SFO).

) It represents stocks granted to Ms. Sun Yiping under the Restricted Stock

Award Scheme of Mengniu Dairy adopted by the board of Mengniu Dairy
and the key management retention plan of Mengniu Dairy.

) The calculation is based on the percentage of number of shares to the
total number of issued shares of Mengniu Dairy (i.e. 3,919,476,402
shares) as at 30 June 2016.

Directors’ interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as at 30 June 2016

Save as disclosed in 1. above, as at 30 June 2016, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had, or was deemed to
have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be entered in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code. Furthermore, at no time
during the six months ended 30 June 2016 was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AS AT 30 JUNE 2016

To the best of knowledge of any Director or chief executive of the Company,
as at 30 June 2016, the persons or corporations (other than Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interest or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company or its associated corporation(s) which
were required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be entered
in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:
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Notes:

(1)

All the above shares are held in long position (as defined under Part XV of the

SFO).

As at 30 June 2016, Mengniu Dairy held 99.95% interest in Mengniu

International.

As at 30 June 2016, Mengniu International directly held the relevant shares.

the issued
Name of substantial shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Number of shares share capital
HERTRAE
TERRER B REEMEE g = BABED
Mengniu Dairy® Interests in a controlled corporation 2,422,150,437 51.04%
SEAED ZEGNEE 2w
Mengniu International © Beneficial owner 2,422,150,437 51.04%
SHHERO EnEAA
Danone SAY Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
ERESAY REHEE 2 #Ew
Danone Baby and Medical Holding® Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
ZYERLEB 2w
Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
REHEE 2w
Nutricia International BV Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
REHEER 2 R
Danone Asia® Beneficial owner 1,186,390,074 25.00%
ERE N EmEB A
Zhang International Investment Limited® Beneficial owner 303,462,119 6.39%
RKEREEBRRQAC EmEAA
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(4) As at 30 June 2016, Danone SA held 100% interest in Danone Baby and Medical
Holding. Danone Baby and Medical Holding held 100% interest in Danone Baby
and Medical Nutrition BV. Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV held 100%
interest in Nutricia International BV. Nutricia International BV held 100% interest
in Danone Asia.

5) As at 30 June 2016, Danone Asia directly held the relevant shares.

6) Zhang International Investment Ltd. was held by Mr. Zhang Lihui, Mr. Zhang
Likun, Mr. Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo and Ms. She Lifang
as their wholly-owned investment holding company to hold their shares in the
Company.

7) The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 30 June 2016 was
4,745,560,296.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2016, the Directors of the Company
were not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporation(s) which were required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme”) on 8 October 2010, and adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 October 2010. On 23 July 2013, Mengniu
International made a voluntary general offer to option holders of the Company
(“Option Offer”), to cancel the outstanding options granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Scheme. On 13 August
20183 (being the final closing date of the Option Offer), the Option Offer was
accepted in respect of 52,088,266 options. The underlying options together
with all the rights attached thereto were cancelled and given up and all the
outstanding options automatically lapsed upon acceptance of the Option
Offer.

No option was granted by the Company nor was there any outstanding
option granted by the Company from 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2016.

@  H2016F 6 A30H ' i B2 SAH A Danone Baby
and Medical Holding # 100% #& #x ° Danone Baby
and Medical Holding#f & Danone Baby and Medical

Nutrition BV #) 100% # %> Danone Baby and
Medical Nutrition BV #§ & Nutricia International
BV#)100% ## 2= ° Nutricia International BV#% &

ERE T MA100% % ©

(5) M201646A30H  EEDMEEFAEEBAR

{/'\ °

© SEERBEEREEARABHRMNELE KH
MO RFIBASEAE  RAMELE - RAKE
ERARBFLIRE EFRREZ2EARE
ZRRBAFAERERARR B 2D -

(1) MN2016%6A30H  AAFRBRITERMNAES
4,745,560,296 %

B EXXAT# EEI - 201666 A30H » AR
AESEHMINBEMNEMATIEBRRAEAR
A HABEENRD REERNDTFHEE A
HARRRIRIEE S RPE K EI86IEATT
EMETEMHOERIORRE -

BB R 2

AR E B R20109F10 88 B IR 4y — 18 B A% 42
AE((ERLAMREBRESSE)  BECR
2010F10 A8 AWM — B T2 ([BRE
& - R2013F7 238 SHEFEBE R AR
AIMERERAEARDIEEEZ2ERBEEY
([HREEN])  UiEEa A M EmERE
B REREMNEETITREOME N RITE
B - R2013ESA1SH (AN ZEY Z &
BAENLEBH) B ZE OB 552,088,266 fE
REEER  RNEREZHEENE  HEBER
RERMEZMERINECHTHEHENE T
FIEMARTENBERETCS BB RN -

H2016%F1 A1 H £2016%F6 A30H © &KX A A
BERLAEMERE THECRN AR
HH B9 ) R 1T (5 i AR o



FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily from bank deposits,
other receivables and bank loans, denominated in foreign currencies, that are
currencies other than the functional currencies of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Hong
Kong dollars, US dollars and New Zealand dollars.

PLEDGED ASSETS

As at 30 June 2016, the Group has pledged bank deposits and other financial
assets in an aggregate of approximately RMB719.2 million (31 December
2015: RMB695.0 million).

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2016, the liquidity of the Group was comprised of cash and
cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits to be released within one year,
long-term fixed bank deposits and other financial assets amounted to
RMB3,151.2 million in aggregate (31 December 2015: RMB4,311.9 million),
representing a decrease of 26.9%. The decrease was mainly due to the
acquisition of Dumex, a subsidiary, as well as the distribution of dividends.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, the Group’s net cash outflows from
operating activities amounted to RMB107.5 million (six months ended 30
June 2015: net inflows of RMB14.9 million). Net cash from operating activities
decreased from that of the same period last year, which was mainly due to
the significant decrease in sales for the first half of 2016.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, the net cash outflow used in
investing activities amounted to RMB353.0 million (six months ended 30 June
2015: RMB190.0 million), mainly arising from payments for the acquisition of
subsidiaries and the recovery of wealth management investment upon
maturity.
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, the net cash outflows generated
from financing activities amounted to RMB107.4 million (six months ended 30
June 2015: net inflows of RMB3,587.3 million). The decrease in net cash from
financing activities as compared to the same period last year was mainly
attributable to the injection of RMB3,471.3 million by Danone Asia in the
same period last year and the increase in bank loans.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

As at 30 June 2016, the Group’s bank loans amounted to RMB687.2 million (31
December 2015: RMB461.7 million), which was repayable on demand.

As at 30 June 2016, the total equity of the Group amounted to RMB6,026.1
million (31 December 2015: RMB5,980.6 million), debt to assets ratio (total
bank loans at period end divided by total assets) was 8.6% (31 December
2015: 6.0%).

The capital structure of the Group is reviewed by the Board annually,
including the dividend policy and share repurchase activities of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is dedicated to ensuring high standards of corporate governance
with an emphasis on the building up of a diligent and dedicated Board, a
sound internal control system, with a view to enhancing its transparency and
accountability to shareholders. The Board acknowledges that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group and its
shareholders.
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During the period from 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2016, the Company has
adopted and complied with all code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, save for the
deviation from code provision E.1.2, which is explained as follows:

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman of the
board of directors should attend the annual general meeting (‘AGM”). Ms.
Sun Yiping, the Chairman of the Board of the Company, was unable to attend
the AGM of the Company held on 3 June 2016 due to a business trip. Mr.
Mok Wai Bun Ben, an independent non-executive Director, chairman of
Remuneration Committee and a member of Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee, acted as the chairman of the AGM of the Company held on 3
June 2016. Ms. Sun will use her best endeavours to spare time to attend all
future shareholders’ meetings of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, the Board’s composition had
undergone the following changes:

(1) Mr. Wu Jingshui resigned as a non-executive Director on 29 January
2016; and

(2)  Mr. Huang Xiaojun was appointed as a non-executive Director on 29
January 2016.

As at 30 June 2016, the Board was comprised of four non-executive
Directors, two executive Directors, and three independent non-executive
Directors. The non-executive Directors were Ms. Sun Yiping (Chairman), Mr.
Qin Peng, Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Huang Xiaojun; the executive Directors
were Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Li Dongming;
and the independent non-executive Directors were Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben,
Mr. Cheng Shoutai and Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, independent non-executive
Directors shall represent at least one-third of the board. During the period
from 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2016, the Board of the Company comprises
nine members, three of whom are independent non-executive Directors.
Therefore, Rule 3.10A has been duly complied with by the Company during
the said period.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS UNDER RULES 13.51(2) AND
13.51(B)(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 January
2016, there are no changes in the directors’ biographical details since the
date of the 2015 annual report of the Company, which are required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2) and 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, four board meetings were held by
the Company. The attendance records of each Director at the board meetings
are set out below:

N

N/

R H5 £ A B 55 13.51(
1351B(NIRIEEEE &

B AR A R201645 1 A298 T 8 A &
WEEIN BERRABIM2015F FEHKE T8
HEI LA R - M AR 38 k48 A 2513.51(2 )&
1351BNIK BT RENSEEBEREFIEE

ESHFERLE

HE2016F6 308 k6@ AW » KR AI£1T
T4REETEH - %%%E@%%QQ:@%

HE RSB MT

Name of Director Attendance
EEHR R E
Ms. Sun Yiping (Chairman) HERE L+ (FE) 4
Mr. Qin Peng =Bk E 4
Mr. Zhang Ping 9R TS A 4
Mr. Huang Xiaojun' EEELED 2
Mr. Wu Jingshui® REKEED 0
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chief Executive Officer) B8RSk (FT AR ) 4
Mr. Li Dongming (Vice President) FRAKLE (FEE) 3
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben HEMEE 4
Mr. Cheng Shoutai (N 3
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway FEHETE 3

Notes P 5

(1) Mr. Huang Xiaojun was appointed as a non-executive Director on 29 January (1) =B ELAEBER2016F1H20R EZE R

2016. MITES -
(2)  Mr. Wu Jingshui resigned as a non-executive Director on 29 January 2016. @ REKEEER2016F1 208 BT IEHTT
o

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS OF DIRECTORS EENEHEER

The Board has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of conduct — # % & & £ 44 1= ‘EE ? E'J ERREARARF

and rules governing dealings by all Directors in the securities of the Company.  §2 & £ # {7 A A T 5817 A A )}g %,Eu

The Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the Company,
that they have complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the six months ended 30 June 2016.

A e

LARPRMER B EERE ETER BER
HZ=2016F6 A30H L6 AR —HEBTIZE
SPRIFTEL 2 AR E AR -



PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the six months ended 30 June
2016.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ho Siu Pik is the company secretary of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 24 August 2016, the audit committee of the Company comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway
(Chairman) and Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben, and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Zhang Ping (including one independent non-executive Director
who possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise).

The audit committee has reviewed the unaudited financial statements for the
six months ended 30 June 2016 and considered that the results complied

with relevant accounting standards and that the Company has made
appropriate disclosures.

On behalf of the Board

Sun Yiping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 August 2016
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Independent Review Report

BYEBRHRE

Ernst & Young

22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY zx

To the shareholders of
Yashili International Holdings Ltd
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

INTRODUCTION

We have reviewed the interim financial information set out on pages 42 to 96,
which comprises the condensed consolidated statement of financial position
of Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries as at
30 June 2016 and the related condensed consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity and the condensed
consolidated statement of cash flows for the six-month period then ended,
and explanatory notes. The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited require the preparation of a report on
interim financial information to be in compliance with the relevant provisions
thereof and International Accounting Standard 34 “Interim Financial
Reporting” (“IAS 34”) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board. The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
presentation of this interim financial information in accordance with IAS 34.
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this interim financial
information based on our review. Our report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

RKEFTENEFR Tel E3E: +852 2846 9888
EBPIRAEIE 15K Fax {5 H: +852 2868 4432
PIEKE 22 12 ey.com

BETARBZRERIARRE

(REASHFEEIMHR LA BEREERA)

5|

KM EMTIRFELILEEFI6H M+ F EH

][

BEBRERAB(ERAD REFAGFH
AR BIER20165FE6 A30H WEHAA

MBEARKRARBEZA LNEABRENAE
MERAAHIEER BHAHEZEKRER B
PAatRaSdX BHHRAHRERERN
KRB (BEBHERIMAERRAZE
EHRADKRE  THMBERBENRER L
ANAHEMBRXABERSFENEEER
KB BR &5t ERIDE 45— B | S
(KEBREFERDEMRDHBRE - BLA
EXERAEERB(EREH LR B4R R
RE2JARPBMBEBEEN RANEERZRIE

BHMEHITENER BAPHUBERE
HEMER REZBGT  HANKEER
EEgFEH - RibziN TEEMAR - HA
BAIRABRENARET BEMEMECALTAER
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Independent Review Report (Continued)

SCOPE OF REVIEW

We conducted our review in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Review Engagements 2410 “Review of Interim Financial Information
Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. A review of interim financial
information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for
financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review
procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing and consequently does
not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all
significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion.

CONCLUSION

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to
believe that the accompanying interim financial information is not prepared, in
all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 August 2016

By EHRE (&)

EHE

BMRRREEGAMNASRMAKEEEMN
AW EER)FE24105% - EBHNIB L
HERITOTRMBENER I NREELETE
Bl-m M BERNENEIZRERAEY
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MEMEHNER ZFHOHEERRE(ER
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RERMABZ A EREZTBEINEX
EFH-F BRATERERER -
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

foem A = N2
ﬁaﬁ B & 'ﬁ'F EI:E\ o
Unaudited
RBER
For the six months ended 30 June
HZ6H30H16MEA
2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARE T ARBETF T
Restated
Revenue A 4 1,146,511 1,464,776
Cost of sales fi=R= N 6 (566,042) (742,961)
Gross profit EA 580,469 721,815
Other income and gains H A A R e 4 39,414 56,109
Selling and distribution expenses PHE NSHEMAX (493,429) (628,835)
Administrative expenses THHAX (159,886) (84,622)
Other expenses H i X 5 (50,075) (39,595)
(Loss)/Profit from operations e (FE), SRR (83,507) 24,872
Finance income IR TN 77,032 105,393
Finance costs B 75 P AR 7 (6,188) (6,881)
Net finance income F B A 70,844 98,512
(Loss)/Profit before tax MRBL AT (B18), & F (12,663) 123,384
Income tax expense 8= 8 27,736 (14,084)
Profit for the period REE R 15,073 109,300
Attributable to: UT&FEMN:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ RSN 15,073 109,300
RMB cents RMB cents
AR S ARE S
Earnings per share attributable to AAREEREETAEN
ordinary equity holders of the Company &R Z A
Basic HR 9 0.3 2.4
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BRSOt 2 ERER

Unaudited
RBER
For the six months ended 30 June
BZ6H30HLL6EA
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Restated
Profit for the period 7 5 535 A 15,073 109,300
Other comprehensive income Hfh 2 H WK &
Exchange differences on translation of BONFRBIINERERIFTE T
financial statements of overseas subsidiaries 65,897 (16,003)
Cash flow hedges: ReReEEH:
Effective portion of changes in fair value of FREHTEBURELY
hedging instruments arising AREEZE
during the period = (8,421)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) AHHMEEUKE(BX)
for the period 65,897 (24,424)
Total comprehensive income for the period  Z<Hi 2 & Ur 35 4 58 80,970 84,876
Attributable to: DT&FHESL:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ RN 80,970 84,876
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

5 B & OF B B 7R 3R

Unaudited Audited
REBER KT IZ
30 June 2016 31 December 2015
2016 20154
6A30H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARB TR AREEF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE NME&E 11 1,794,121 1,714,570
Construction in progress EEIR 12 35,132 33,151
Investment properties "EYE 13 30,372 20,078
Land use rights + b {5 AR A 92,486 51,868
Intangible assets I A E 296,715 12,651
Goodwiill EES 14 991,236 272,760
Deferred tax assets BELEHIEBEEE 212,576 153,655
Long-term bank deposits REIRITHF X 19 371,577 363,227
Total non-current assets FERBEELR 3,824,215 2,621,960
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories TE 15 752,336 641,019
Trade and bills receivables BoENRARERE 16 160,877 71,815
Prepayments, deposits and FERARIE ek
other receivables H it pE U IR 17 218,170 92,249
Other financial assets HEtemiE 18 419,854 873,859
Pledged deposits REFEESHFR 19 619,231 594,981
Cash and bank balances B RIBITES 19 1,740,566 2,479,856
Assets of disposal group classified SEAEFEEFEN
as held for sale REHAE 26 243,120 287,950
Total current assets MEBEEMBRE 4,154,154 5,041,729
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables Y AN 20 387,871 272,104
Other payables and accruals Hib e R ERTE A 21 850,329 901,812
Interest-bearing bank loans S ESRITER 22 687,185 461,696
Current tax payable FERT AT E 9,107 28,892
Liabilities directly associated with HAOAREGEEE
assets classified as held for sale BHEMEBEHNAER 26 7,820 10,294
Total current liabilities REBELRE 1,942,312 1,674,798
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 2,211,842 3,366,931
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EELERRBES
CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,036,057 5,988,891




Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
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Unaudited Audited
REBER KB
30 June 2016 31 December 2015
2016 £ 20154
6A30H 12AH31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARB TR ARBEF T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Deferred income IR JE U 2= 3,871 4,412
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFGEHAE 6,051 3,837
Total non-current liabilities FRBEELRE 9,922 8,249
NET ASSETS BEESFE 6,026,135 5,980,642
EQUITY =
Issued capital BEITRA 23 399,352 399,352
Reserves & 24 5,626,783 5,581,290
TOTAL EQUITY A 6,026,135 5,980,642
Director Director
2 =
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu Mr. Li Dongming
ESMEE FTRELE
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HREHERE X

Capital PRC

Share Share  redemption statutory ~ Other capital ~ Translation Merger  Contributed Hedging Retained

capital premium reserve reserves reserve reserve reserve surplus reserve eamings Total
K& Gl B

kx  BfEE  EEEE  EREE  AREE  EXRE  R0ER  RARR  ENER  RERA @it
Note RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RWBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOOD  RWBOO  RMBO0D
WE ARBTR  ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARNTR ARETR ARETR  ARETR

For the six months ended 30 June 2016 % 201656 A30H 1618 A
(unaudited) (REBEH)
Asat 1 January 2016 #201651818 399,352 3,881,093 818 182,021 (44,615) (19,600) (850,504) 1,367,204 - 1,064,873 5,980,642
Proft for the period REER = = = = = - - - - 15,073 15,073
Other comprehensive income: A2 EkE
Exchange differences on tranglation of 4N F A FSMER %
financial statements of overseas TEER
subsidiaries = = = = = 65,807 = = = = 65,897
Total comprehensive income 2ENEEE
for the period - - - - - 65,897 - - - 15,073 80,970
Dividend approved in respect of AARAAE
the previous year 10 - (35,477) - - - - - - - - (35,477)
Asat 30 June 2016 2016564308 399,352 3,845,616 818 182,021 (44,615) 46,297 (850,504) 1,367,204 - 1,079,946 6,026,135
For the six months ended 30 June 2015 #Z201556A30A 16/ A
(unaudited) (REEHR)
Asat 1 January 2015 #201551818 306,532 580,825 818 163,019 (41,282) (82,566) - 1,367,204 (8,388) 888,600 3,178,762
Business combination under (it s
common control - - - - - - 199,496 - - 77,019 216,515
As at 1 January 2015 (restated) H201551A1R (RE#) 305,532 580,825 818 163,019 (41,282) (82,566) 199,496 1,367,204 (8,388) 965,619 3,450,277
Proft for the period Y- - - - - - - - - - 109,300 109,300
Other comprehensive income: E2ENE
Cash flow hedges, net of tax BeREEH (AR - - - - - - - - (8.421) - (8.421)
Exchange differences on trangiation of M F A FSNEH R
financial statements of overseas nEER
subsidiaries - - - - - (16,003) - - - - (16,003)
Total comprehensive income 2ERELE
for the period - - - - - (16,003) - - (8.421) 109,300 84,876
Dividend approved in respect of HARAAE
the previous year - (74,505) - - - - - - - - (74,505)
Issue of shares BARE 93,820 3374773 - - - - - - - - 3,468,593

As at 30 June 2015 (restated) R2015%6A30H (EEit) 309,352 3,881,093 818 163,019 (41,282) (98,569) 199,496 1,367,204 (16,809) 1,074919 6,929,241
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BHSHEZRER

Unaudited
RBER
For the six months ended 30 June
B Z6H30AL6M@EA
2016 2015
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR®EF T ARBT T
Restated
Operating activities BEEE
Cash generated from operations RESEERNFRR (X )RE (53,113) 73,950
Tax paid B AEH (54,394) (59,092)
Net cash (used in)/generated from KREEBKANESFHE
operating activities (107,507) 14,858
Investing activities REEH
Payment for the purchase of BEWE WEREE
property, plant and equipment S HIR S (48,726) (207,364)
Purchase consideration at fair value W B F R R P  3RIB 25 (987,624) —
Other cash flows arising from HEEETHELENRS
investing activities 683,399 17,354
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETBHFANESFE
investing activities (352,951) (190,010)
Financing activities Al & E B
Dividends paid to equity shareholders TN ARIBRERE
of the Company 10 (35,477) (74,505)
Proceeds from issue of shares EEKRA — 3,471,330
Other cash flows arising from HpmE i EEnRES
financing activities (71,882) 190,503
Net cash (used in)/generated from METHEENBESFHE
financing activities (107,359) 3,587,328
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBESEEY
cash equivalents R ) /8 ¥ 5 (567,817) 3,412,176
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [E R & By & & 7,463 (5,588)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R1 B1BEHNEERRE
ZEW 19 1,307,556 239,868
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June HR6HA3EMNRERE S
ZEY 19 747,202 3,646,456
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman lIslands on 3 June 2010 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22, (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2016 comprise the financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The Group is
primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of dairy and nourishment
products.

Mengniu International is the holding company of the Company, and
Mengniu Dairy is the ultimate holding company of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June 2016 have been
prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting
and the disclosure requirements of Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial
statements do not include all the information and disclosures
required in the annual financial statements, and should be read in
conjunction with the Group’s annual financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 New standards and amendments adopted
by the Group

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
interim condensed consolidated financial statements are
consistent with those in the Group’s annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015, except for the adoption
of the following new and revised standards effective as at 1
January 2016. The Group has not early adopted any other
standard or amendment that has been issued but is not yet
effective.

The nature and the effect of these changes are disclosed below.
Although these new standards and amendments apply for the
first time in 2016, they do not have a material impact on the
annual consolidated financial statements of the Group or the
interim condensed consolidated financial statements of the
Group. The nature and the impact of each new standard or
amendment is described below:

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

IFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose
activities are subject to rate-regulation, to continue applying most
of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral account
balances upon its first-time adoption of IFRSs. Entities that adopt
IFRS 14 must present the regulatory deferral accounts as
separate line items on the statement of financial position and
present movements in these account balances as separate line
items in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (“OCI”). The standard requires disclosure of the nature of,
and risks associated with, the entity’s rate-regulation and the
effects of that rate-regulation on its financial statements. IFRS 14
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016.

2
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22 AEEC KM FHEA
MAEET
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HRRE T RS ET B BR B
BMEERI  BEANFHGHE
IR HRR TR TR - B
WmEAREBEH E2015F12A31H
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& B3 & O B 75 ¥R 3k Y 5 (&)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES 2 mBHBRAEB ST
IN THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES EE )

(Continued)

22 AEEC KM FHEA

2.2 New standards and amendments adopted

by the Group (continued) FEET ()
IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (Continued) l VTY B 745 ¥ 5 A B 3214 5%
ETFEERF]
Since the Group is an existing IFRS preparer and is not involved AR AE BB RN R RS ®R
in any rate-regulated activities, this standard does not apply. SEAREMBERRETERSE
EREREGEE  WEAE
o

B R B A R & 4 BN 55 11 5%
ZEalla & WiEE

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements:
Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests

m B B E B I 77 )%
The amendments to IFRS 11 require that a joint operator B B2 B ﬁ’% WMEEBFEI1R ZIEEF]
accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation, in T HRAKZEEARBBERITE

which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business, s QE 5'J E3MEB A2 EBE
must apply the relevant IFRS 3 Business Combinations principles HetREHEBRER HETWKEZ
for business combination accounting. The amendments also HAEAZKE (AP HFELE 2 EZHE
clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not KR—IEEB)ERETEHE IE °
remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the HEEITNEE  RKER —
same joint operation if joint control is retained. In addition, a 4 7 AN Eéé BR8BH HT %'J
scope exclusion has been added to IFRS 11 to specify that the R LR ERE SRS
amendments do not apply when the parties sharing joint control, SEFITE I BEMBR f:t
including the reporting entity, are under common control of the EAE1RBIG AR REE - 5TH
same ultimate controlling party. EHAZHRAEHEZIINZSH (B
RHMEER)XA —&R&REHFTZ
HEZEGR  ZZFBILTEA -

The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial ZEEITBERRKBHRRAKLE 2
interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional N HEZNBER —HXRKEE 2
interests in the same joint operation and are prospectively EREEEEIN iﬁﬁﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁ 20164

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016,
with early adoption permitted. These amendments do not have
any impact on the Group as there has been no interest acquired
in a joint operation during the period.

TATR S Z BRI e FEHH -
FTAR AT ER A% o 20 3 PO 30 A U AL
R ots REEITHAEE
WEEAZE -
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 New standards and amendments adopted
by the Group (continued)

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 Property, Plant
and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets that revenue reflects
a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating
a business (of which the asset is a part) rather than the economic
benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result,
a revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate property,
plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited
circumstances to amortise intangible assets.

The amendments are effective prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption
permitted. These amendments do not have any impact on the
Group given that the Group has not used a revenue-based
method to depreciate its non-current assets.

5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

MAUEREAEB IR
mié@n,z;)

22 AEEC KM FHEA
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& B3 & O B 75 ¥R 3k Y 5 (&)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 New standards and amendments adopted
by the Group (continued)

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture:
Bearer Plants

The amendments change the accounting requirements for
biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants. Under
the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition of
bearer plants will no longer be within the scope of IAS 41
Agriculture. Instead, IAS 16 will apply. After initial recognition,
bearer plants will be measured under IAS 16 at accumulated
cost (before maturity) and using either the cost model or
revaluation model (after maturity).

The amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer
plants will remain in the scope of IAS 41 measured at fair value
less costs to sell. For government grants related to bearer plants,
IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance will apply. The amendments are
retrospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments
do not have any impact on the Group as the Group does not
have any bearer plants.
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5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 New standards and amendments adopted
by the Group (continued)

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to
account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already
applying IFRSs and electing to change to the equity method in
their separate financial statements will have to apply that change
retrospectively. First-time adopters of IFRSs electing to use the
equity method in their separate financial statements will be
required to apply this method from the date of transition to
IFRSs.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These
amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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& B3 & O B 75 ¥R 3k Y 5 (&)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 New standards and amendments adopted

by the Group (continued)
Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle

These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2016. They include:

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations

Assets (or disposal groups) are generally disposed of either
through sale or distribution to owners. The amendment clarifies
that changing from one of these disposal methods to the other
would not be considered a new plan of disposal, rather it is a
continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no
interruption of the application of the requirements in IFRS 5. This
amendment must be applied prospectively.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

()  Servicing contracts
The amendments clarify that a servicing contract that
includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a
financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee
and the arrangement against the guidance for continuing
involvement in IFRS 7 in order to assess whether the
disclosures are required. The assessment of which
servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement must
be done retrospectively.

However, the required disclosures would not need to be
provided for any period beginning before the annual period
in which the entity first applies the amendments.
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 New standards and amendments adopted
by the Group (continued)

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Continued)

(i)  Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 to
condensed interim financial statements

The amendments clarify that the offsetting disclosure
requirements do not apply to condensed interim financial
statements, unless such disclosures provide a significant
update to the information reported in the most recent
annual report. This amendment must be applied
retrospectively.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits

The amendment clarifies that market depth of high quality
corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which the
obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the
obligation is located. When there is no deep market for high
quality corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates
must be used. This amendment must be applied prospectively.

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

The amendment clarifies that the required interim disclosures
must either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated
by cross-reference between the interim financial statements and
wherever they are included within the interim financial report (e.g.,
in the management commentary or risk report). The other
information within the interim financial report must be available to
users on the same terms as the interim financial statements and
at the same time. This amendment must be applied
retrospectively.

These amendments do not have any impact on the Group.
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& B3 & O B 75 ¥R 3k Y 5 (&)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 New standards and amendments adopted
by the Group (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change,
existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify:

° The materiality requirements in 1AS 1

° That specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss
and OCI and the statement of financial position may be
disaggregated

° That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they
present the notes to financial statements

° That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method must be presented
in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between
those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply
when additional subtotals are presented in the statement of
financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI.
These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These
amendments do not have any impact on the Group.
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2 New standards and amendments adopted
by the Group (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception

The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the
investment entities exception under IFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements. The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that
the exemption from presenting consolidated financial statements
applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment
entity, when the investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries
at fair value.

Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that only a
subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an investment entity
itself and that provides support services to the investment entity
is consolidated. All other subsidiaries of an investment entity are
measured at fair value. The amendments to IAS 28 Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures allow the investor, when
applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement
applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to its
interests in subsidiaries.

These amendments must be applied retrospectively and are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016,
with early adoption permitted. These amendments do not have
any impact on the Group as the Group does not apply the
consolidation exception.
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A& OF B 75 ARk fY ot

(%)

3 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services and has seven reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@)

Production and sale of Yashily infant formula products — this
segment includes the development, manufacture and sale of
Yashily infant formula products and milk formula for pregnant
women in the PRC and overseas.

Production and sale of Scient infant formula products — this
segment includes the development, manufacture and sale of
Scient infant formula products and milk formula for pregnant
women in the PRC and overseas.

Production and sale of Oushi Mengniu infant formula products —
this segment includes the development, manufacture and sale of
QOushi Mengniu infant formula products and milk formula for
pregnant women in the PRC and overseas.

Production and sale of Dumex infant formula products — this
segment includes the development, manufacture and sale of
Dumex milk infant products and milk formula for pregnant women
in the PRC and overseas.

Sale of Arla infant formula products — this segment includes sale
of Arla infant formula products in the PRC.

Production and sale of nutrition products — this segment
includes the development, manufacture and sale of milk powder
for adults and teenagers, soymilk powder, rice flour and cereal
products in the PRC and overseas.

Other operations include the production and sale of packing
materials, which mainly serve the Group’s internal use, and sale
of surplus raw materials. The results of these operations are
included in the “others” column.
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources among segments, the senior executive management team
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of “reportable segment profit”, i.e
and selling and distribution expenses”. The Group does not allocate
other income and gains, other net loss, net finance costs, expenses
other than certain selling and distribution expenses to its segments, as
the senior executive management does not use this information to
allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of the operating
segments. Segment assets and liabilities are not regularly reported to
the Group’s senior executive management and therefore information of
reportable segment assets and liabilities is not presented in these
financial statements.

, “revenue less cost of sales

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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& B3 & ff B 35 3R R Y = (4R)

3 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3 REDIER @
(Continued)

For the six months ended 30 June 2016 (Unaudited)
BZ2016F6A30R L6EA(REEH)

Oushi
Yashily Scient Mengniu Dumex Arla
infant infant infant infant infant Nutrition
formula formula formula formula formula food
products products products products products products Others Total
BLA R  BERF Y] Arla
BHRRS BHRER BHRES BHRESF BHRES
DHER DRER DHER TRER DIHBER EER Hft &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARBTR ARETR AR¥TR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR¥ETR
Segment revenue: AHYA
Sales to external customers HETHNBEP 486,042 59,174 162,720 49,574 67,700 312,204 9,097 1,146,511
Intersegment sales PEHEHEE 16,327 - - - - 7,844 - 24171
502,369 59,174 162,720 49,574 67,700 320,048 9,097 1,170,682
Reconcilation: HE-
Elimination of intersegment sales #1347 5 $5 & (16,327) - - - - (7,844) - (24,171)
Total revenue LN 1,146,511
Segment results PHEE (17,804) 14,935 55,898 11,422 1,437 31,972 (1,012 96,848
Reconciliation: B
Finance income k- TN 77,032
Finance costs BBRA (6,188)
Unallocated other income FORMEMBA
and gains s 39,414
Unallocated other expenses APDEHEMSH (219,769)
(Loss)/Profit before tax BEE(B5R),/&H (12,663)
Income tax expense FERA% 27,736
Profit for the year EEER 15,073
Other segment information ~~ H 42 & #l
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7 & i $4 45,386 5,965 10,197 298 644 24,319 1,018 87,827
Unallocated amounts RARAE 170
Total depreciation RERBERE
and amortisation 87,997
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

3 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

3 KEpAb

Ay
B

=

For the six months ended 30 June 2015 (Unaudited)

HZE201556 5300 IL61H A (REERZ)

Qushi
Yashily Scient Mengniu Arla
infant infant infant infant Nutrition
formula formula formula formula food
products products products products products Others Total
L i Bt R4 Ara
BYREF BHRER EBHREF BHRES
mHER  DRER  DRES MRER 2EEM £t B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETn ARBTR AR%ETn ARBTr ARBTR ARET:R
Segment revenue: AEHBA
Sales to external customers  $HE FIHNHEP 774,360 111,547 154,747 21,186 394,302 8,634 1,464,776
Intersegment sales DHEEE 23,905 3,352 - - 11,849 - 39,106
798,265 114,899 164,747 21,186 406,151 8,634 1,503,882
Reconciliation: Hhk -
Elimination of HEH BREEE
intersegment sales (23,905) (3,352 - - (11,849) - (39,106)
Total revenue FUON 1,464,776
Segment results THEE 86,792 (45,404) 41,409 6,415 53,945 7,798 150,955
Reconciliation: B
Finance income BEBUA 105,393
Finance costs BEKA (6,881)
Unallocated other income RABMBMEMBA
and gains Bis 56,109
Unallocated other expenses R D BB E A 52 (182,192)
(Loss)/Profit before tax BRHA (B8),/ &7 123,384
Income tax expense FERAX (14,084)
Profit for the year FERF 109,300
Other segment information ~ E s 5 3 & %I
Depreciation and amortisation 47 & % % 44 31,133 9,908 16,003 460 16,793 1,462 75,759
Unallocated amounts AAEFE 196
Total depreciation FEREHAE

and amortisation

75,955
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& B3 & ff B 35 3R R Y = (4R)

3 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3 KEDHER @
(Continued)
Geographical information i EE R

The Group’s revenue is solely derived from domestic sales during the
period. No export sales were recorded during the six months ended 30
June 2015 and 2016.

NEAEFENRAZITFEARNYE BE
20154 201646 A 301 1-61E A & fH
HmEEH O E o

4 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 4 WA -Hlw ARz

REBBOWKA -~ H U A R oo 4

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is as

follows: m
Unaudited
RIEERZ
For the six months ended 30 June
HZ=6H30H1L6MEA
2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AR®B TR ARETT
Revenue WA
Sales of goods & an 3 B (@) 1,146,511 1,464,776
Other income and gains Hag A R W
Government grants BT 46 B
— Compensation for expenses —SPEELSSTENEE
incurred 555 374
— Compensation for acquisition —HEEEENEE
of assets 542 1,681
— Taxes refund — R 344 —
Compensation income HERA (o) 735 2,615
Rental income Hael A 2,168 4,587
Consigned processing income ZEMITWA (c) 22,591 23,989
Foreign exchange gains P& 5 Wz 11,546 11,835
Exempted interest expense ZERRMF B ER - 10,656
Others HAb 933 372
39,414 56,109
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5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 4 A~ HMUWA R KRS @

(Continued)

Notes: M5 -

() The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of dairy and (@) AREFBTERETAZL R L EEREE
nourishment products. Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, NiHE - S22 BEAEENEERK
represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers. Revenue is A R EFPHENERNHEEEE:-
after deduction of any trade discounts. EEBEENBREMESHTN -

The Group’s customer base is diversified and no revenue from REBNEPLPEWMZLIL KR I
transactions with a single customer amounted to 10% or more of the EAME -—BEHNXIHAERBKA
Group’s total revenue during the period. AAREEBEETEN10%TIA L o

(o)  Compensation income mainly represented forfeitures received from b)) FMEVAZTZHEANERERLEHD
distributor customers for cross territorial sales that breached the terms of BRI EREEMEKCERETR R
distribution agreements during the period. W Hy FRIE o

(c)  This mainly represented consigned processing income and cost of sales © ZHANIWARKAREZIAREER
from processing milk powder for Inner Mongolia Mengniu (Group) Dairy S E(ER)KRNDBERAT(RATH
Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company. RIEAMBARDZEMIADHKA R

HEKA -
OTHER EXPENSES 5 HMRX
Unaudited
RIEERZ
For the six months ended 30 June
B Z6H30A 1L6{E A
2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 ARB T ARETT
Loss on disposal of items of BEEWE BE&

property, plant and equipment REEK 2,366 722
Loss on disposal of inventories FEHEEE L 2,058 2,567
Impairment of inventories FEBKRELEHE 21,806 902

Provision for impairment of trade ~ JE YR Z 5 7 K H 1 JiE U 5%
receivables and other receivables  # & (120) 2,021
Bank charges RITFEE 186 1,134
Donations B 1,175 4,705
Consigned processing cost ZFEIM IR A 4 (o) 19,600 23,874
Others Hih 3,004 3,670
50,075 39,595
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& B3 & ff B 35 3R R Y = (4R)

6 PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 BRFLAIRA

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBBATAE I &IB LM T~

JI B REFTEME -

Unaudited
REEZ
For the six months ended 30 June
B ZEZ6H30HL61EA
2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 AR¥B T ARBTF T
Cost of goods sold EREEKAN 566,042 742,961
Depreciation of items of property, M BERREBITE"
plant and equipment* 11 81,917 67,078
Depreciation of investment properties & & ¥ 2 i & 13 2,474 1,586
Amortisation of prepaid T8 £ 10 70 & 5K IE 5
land lease payments 767 976
Amortisation of other non-current HiIEmEE E N
assets 1,477 3,259
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 1,362 3,056
Total depreciation and amortisation 37 & % # 5% 4 %8 87,997 75,955
Minimum lease payments under EEMNKgLEHEREHES
operating leases of buildings 5,166 10,256
Employee benefit expense* EERNE"
(excluding directors’ and (TEEESEK
chief executive’s remuneration): FETHABES):
Wages, salaries and allowances TE]  #FHe k=2 193,627 202,602
Pension scheme contributions RIRE B R
(defined contribution schemes) (FEEMEFEE) 16,042 19,960
209,669 222,562
Interest income AMEMA (57,352) (61,386)
Gain on other investments HEfim &R (19,680) (44,007)
Total finance income R N (77,032) (105,393)
Loss on disposal of items of property, &Y% - &= k&
plant and equipment HEMEBEER 2,366 722
Provision for impairment of trade E 5 MU H b R U BR 3N
receivables and other receivables B 15 (120) 2,021
Impairment of inventories FTERE 21,806 902
Rental income on investment KEVEREKRRES
properties (2,168) (4,587)

Part of these costs and expenses were included in “Cost of goods sold” as

disclosed above.

*EOMRERAMERC R E L RE

W[ E SR e
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

Interest on bank loans wholly repayable
within five years

Less: Interest capitalised to
construction in progress

RITERNFE

B WE N RER TR
B FIL8

2 N
MR ASTWT
Unaudited
REEZ
For the six months ended 30 June
B Z6H30H16EA
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR ARET T
6,188 15,682
— (8,801)
6,188 6,881

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The major components of income tax expense in the condensed

FReHimx

BREHESERAMSHAXHNEER

consolidated statement of profit or loss are: DE
Unaudited
RIEEZ
For the six months ended 30 June
BZ6A30HLL61EA
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBTT
Current tax BV HARE 18
Provision for the period AR B 1 15,471 28,192
Adjustments recognised in the period AREAARERAEFED
for current tax of prior years T U 3 & 1,697 247
Deferred tax iR RE F 18 (44,904) (14,355)
Total income tax expense Frig i < 58 (27,736) 14,084
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

All PRC (mainland China) subsidiaries of the Group, excluding Oushi
Mengniu, are subject to a unified income tax rate of 25% during the six
months ended 30 June 2016.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC passed by the
Tenth National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007 (the “New Tax
Law”), the statutory income tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is
25% from 1 January 2008, except for Oushi Mengniu which is subject
to a preferential tax rate of 15%, in accordance with (a) “The notice of
tax policies relating to the implementation of Western China
Development Strategy”; and (b) “The notice of preferential tax policy for
preliminary processing of agricultural products”.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for the six months ended 30
June 2016 is calculated at profits 16.5% (six months ended 30 June
2015: 16.5%) of the assessable profit for the period.

The provision for New Zealand income tax for the six months ended 30
June 2016 is calculated at profits 28% (six months ended 30 June
2015: 28%) of the assessable profit for the period.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The basic earnings per share amount for the period is calculated by
dividing the profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period.

The diluted earnings per share amount was calculated by dividing the
profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during that period, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& B3 & O B 75 ¥R 3k Y 5 (&)

Fir 18 % B8 X2 @)

NEBEBRPEKXENE T2 (BER
RN RE E2016F6 A308 1E61H
AR BHE XY B25% -

BEZFTEZBEARKEARAEN2007F
SA16HBMAMM(TE AR LB FFT
/BRENFBED  AEBHREMB R
A]E2008F1 A1 HEMETEMB X
525% ° AR @CBERFAE B AR
BEBRAGERBERBESBLE)  Rb)
(AR BEHEICENMBSREZBREDN
BEMUNI&HEGT)OBEM) B
S ZHE15%NEEREK -

REFSHERRBELES((RBR
AREDNBRERER NEEEARE
HENEREBEXESHMIMAME
R o

AEBEH E201646 308 1-61E A B
EBFNERBAEE AKEA R 0 R R
Fl - #28816.5% (B, =20159F6 A30H 1-6
8 A AR : 16.5%) MR R &HIR ©

AEEHE2016%6 A30H (L61E A HM
3770 B8 P 15 T B8 5 R DA K H RS A FE A Y
m A - 1Z BB 28% (B =20159F 6 A30H 1k
618 B #if : 28%) M9 B K &tie -

N

X

=

5

NEIEBRER ARG

% 2 A

4l
==

AHNERERBFDREARNAR A
ERREAABENBEREARAES ET
ERARENETF ARG E -

FREFERNDREHARL R EBR
BAEARGMNBREABEAESRAER
BMNAEANBRAEETEBBRNEF
BRI BRERBAMABRERITELM
EEREEHERNEBRZERBRETNY
AT B E o
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 9

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares used in
calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share amounts is as
follows:

5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

ARRDEBERES AER
SR B @0

T E S BRE R L E E N BT A T
i’JHﬁﬁ%ﬁlE FETINT

Unaudited
KRICEX
For the six months ended 30 June
HZ6H30H1L6MEA
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARETT
Earnings: B -
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders FB FA 5t & G % 2 248 & F &9
of the Company, used in the earnings AABEREZEEA
per share calculation JE 1 15,073 109,300

Number of shares

RO E
(in thousand) (in thousand)
(FR) (FAR)
Shares: Hﬁ T’ﬁ :
Weighted average number of ETRERETFTA®
ordinary shares for the purpose of % I8 A% hn#E S 158X
the basic earnings per share calculation 4,745,560 4,476,820

o7
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& B3 & ff B 35 3R R Y = (4R)

10 DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend any interim dividend for both the six

months ended 30 June 2016 and 2015.

During the six months ended 30 June 2016, the Company declared
and paid a final dividend of approximately RMBO0.75 cents per share as
an appropriation of share premium for the year ended 31 December
2015 to the shareholders of the Company (six months ended 30 June
2015: RMB1.57 cents per share as an appropriation of share premium

for the year ended 31 December 2014) .

Dividend per share of approximately RMBO.75 cents times 4,745,560,296
shares, amounted to RMB35,477,000, which include 1,186,390,074

subscription shares of Danone Asia on 12 February 2015.

10 RE

EEREE2016F6 A30H 1-61E A EA R
R #E ZE201596 A30H 161 A BRI &
BEIRERERS -

B ZE2016F6 A30H LL61E A © &2 R 5
H ZE2015F12 A1 A Lt FEEH A KA
HERARABRRT IR ERGHRRKE
BRAHOARBOTSS - (B E2015F6 A
308 k6@ A : #H E2014F 12 A31H &
FEFMABRAEESRIRARE157
D) e
RESBEATRAOARKELTSD T
4745560296k 0 - £ E A AR
35,477,0007t + B iE2015F2 121
£ 8E I0 N SR B A% 01,186,390,074 % ©

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 Y% BERRKRE

Unaudited Unaudited

RBER RIS T %

2016 2015

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 7 AR¥ T ARBT T

Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1TEEEE 1,714,570 868,803

Additions 1% 0 7,898 9,757
Transfer from construction EREERZIR

in progress 12 35,716 7,736

Transfer to construction in progress #5 # Z= £ 32 T 12 12 (7,298) -

Transfer from investment properties #E# 5 & & ¥ % 13 8,492 31,368

Transfer to investment properties 8% 8 &= 15 & ) % 13 (18,654) —

Disposals RE (6,358) (2,832)

Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RTFRA 25 68,290 —

Depreciation charge for the period  ZREIT & & 6 (81,917) (67,078)

Exchange realignment PE = & 73,382 (5,210)

Carrying amount at 30 June M6 A30H KR E 1,794,121 842,544




Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

12 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

HEFBEBRERERAT RIS 2010

12 £ T

Unaudited Unaudited

REEX RIEEZ

2016 2015

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 ARE TR ARET T

Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1ERNEEE 33,151 836,304

Additions by 24,700 233,949

Acquisition of a subsidiary W —XKT2A 25 7,473 —
Transfer from property, HEAWE  WEMRE

plant and equipment 11 7,298 —
Transfer to property, EEREYE BME KRB

plant and equipment 11 (35,716) (7,736)

Transfer to intangible assets HREEEEE = (1,466)

Disposal RE (1,990) (1,370)

Exchange realignment [E & 7 & 216 (102,464)

Carrying amount at 30 June M6 A30BMEEEE 35,132 957,217

None of the interest expense was capitalised to construction in
progress for the six months ended 30 June 2016 (six months ended 30
June 2015: RMB8,801,000) prior to being transferred to buildings and
machinery (note 7).

RETEEFRIESEA - REE2016F
6H30H LL61E A HARE BB EANEAE
BIRENFEER (20156 A30A 1E6
& A #if « AR ¥8,801,0007T) (FizE7)
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& B3 & ff B 35 3R R Y = (4R)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

13 REY

Unaudited Unaudited
RIBER RIEEZ
2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®B TR ARET T
Cost: B
At 1 January ®1A1H 24,076 119,047
Purchase BE 2,636 -
Transfer to property, EREYE BEREE
plant and equipment 11 (10,042) (86,312)
Transfer from property, HEBAYE BENMERE
plant and equipment 11 21,224 —
Disposal BE (236) -
At 30 June M6 H30H 37,658 82,735
Accumulated depreciation: 2T E
At 1 January M1 A1H (3,998) (15,233)
Charge for the period AEATE 6 (2,474) (1,586)
Transfer to property, HEBEEYE  WEMRE
plant and equipment 11 1,550 4,944
Transfer from assets of disposal BEAYE BENMERE
group classified as held for sale 11 (2,570) —
Disposal RE 206 —
At 30 June K6 H30H (7,286) (11,875)
Carrying amount at 30 June M6 A30HMREEE 30,372 70,860
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

14 GOODWILL 14 =
Unaudited Unaudited
RIBEX RICEZ
2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 ARET T ARETF T
Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1BREE 272,760 272,760
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —KF2a 25 718,476 -
Carrying amount at 30 June M6 AS0EWMIREEE 991,236 272,760

As at 31 May 2016, Yashili International Group Ltd. (“Yashili
(Guangdong)”) (“the acquirer”), a subsidiary of the Group, acquired a
100% interest in Dumex (“the acquiree”). The business acquisition gave
rise to goodwill of RMB718,476,000. Further details of the acquisition
are included in note 25 to the financial statements.

In 2015, Yashili (Guangdong) (“the acquirer”), a subsidiary of the Group,
acquired a 100% interest in Oushi Mengniu (“the acquiree”), a
subsidiary of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited. The acquirer
recorded goodwill amounting to RMB272,760,000, which was originally
recorded in Mengniu Dairy’s account as a result of the acquisition of
the equity interest in Oushi Mengniu in previous years.

MR2016F5A31H L FEBREBREFR
ARHEETMBER)D(TKERF]D  ~N&E
M—RFra - WEZ2ZXZ(HKESD
100% - WBEBWBEFTRKREEARKE
718,476,000t v B - BEZWHEFBFEH RN Y
HWMERWFE25 -

R2015FHLEFERTKBEER]D A5 H
W—RFRA WERESF((HKESD
HI00% MR (TR R FIEBR QA M —
RFRAA) - WEBFEBLHETAREY
272,760,000 L B - Z M B A BEFER
G ERBRESFRERES -

/1
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& B3 & ff B 35 3R R Y = (4R)

15 INVENTORIES 15 78

Unaudited Audited

RBEX T IZ

30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015

2016 & 20154

6 A30H 12531 H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T AR T T

Raw materials B 274,918 192,786
Finished goods X G 240,567 270,891
Work in progress F X @ 226,193 148,469
Packing materials Eyyrs 27,954 27,600
Low value consumables KEHFE R 1,409 1,490
771,041 641,236
Provisions 2B (18,705) (217)
752,336 641,019

16 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 16 BESZRERWRKERE

Unaudited Audited

RIBEZ EEIZ

30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015

2016 & 20154

6 A30H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ET ARET T

Trade and bills receivables BRI MEE 161,214 72,236
Impairment A (337) (421)
160,877 71,815
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

In respect of trade receivables, the Group has established a credit
policy: fixed credits are granted to supermarkets and the credit periods
range from 60 to 90 days; temporary credits are offered on a
transaction-by-transaction basis to distributor customers who have
been trading with the Group for many years and have a good trading
record and the credit periods range from 10 to 90 days. Special credit
is granted to creditworthy distributor customers when the Group
promotes certain lines of products. All the credits offered are
unsecured. Full advances are required for sales to other customers.
The Group regularly reviews the aged analysis of the trade receivables
to monitor the credit exposure.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provision, was
as follows:

16

5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

BESERWFREE @

HRESRUSME  AEBECITAREE
B [ KB AR T 5 1R F60E90
BHEEEE  LWE R RO [ E
AEERSZFAEARIRFLEN
BEBEFPRHENFI0E0HNERRE
E-WMAKEERERXRINER EAR
HHRHEREPANERSKENERE - A
FENBEEFEE - HETHMEP
BEREL2BENR  XEEEHEH
BSRRANERR  NEREERR -

REERR - BHBRBRENRURR R
EREEHEASNEREOTET

Unaudited Audited

RBER LEZ

30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015

2016 20154

6 A30H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%FT ARETT

Within 3 months =EANA 136,618 51,759
3 to 6 months =Z&=X@EA 16,524 14,312
More than 6 months JNE A E 7,735 5,744
160,877 71,815

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the directors are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

BB RSB R E 2 FEURTR TS B — e
URFAH ZEEFPEASERNAREN
RBLHE - BRBEBERR ARAFESERAE
ERREEHRARAERE EREEEE
VEBEANBMAEREBR/ERATUEZE
Yem e
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& B3 & ff B 35 3R R Y = (4R)

16 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 16 EZEWRKEE @

The amounts due from related parties of the Group included in the IIAE SEWGHEN A EEZR@E A I
trade receivables are as follows: BT :
Unaudited Audited
RBEX KEZ
30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015
2016 F 20154
6 A30H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%EF R ARBTF T
A fellow subsidiary —RARWERF 6,244 13,822
The above amounts are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable FRFEAEER REREARETA
on credit terms similar to those offered to the major customers of the SEFZFFPHNEMUEEHRER -
Group.

17 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 17 AR -BERHEMEWR

RECEIVABLES MIE

Unaudited Audited
RBER BEZ
30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015
2016 20154
6 A30H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%EFT R ARETT
Prepaid advertising expenses ENESRAX 3,002 2,871

Prepayments for purchase of BERMEOENR
raw materials 14,648 6,243
Advances to sales offices BiEBER & 3,017 6,792
Value-added tax recoverable FEIEERK 37,967 45,414
Interest receivable FE U R B, 15,398 942
Compensation for equity transfer & Ui i% #& & 3 1 (8 32X 72,437 —
Retention bonus BT 18 E) 8,492 -
Land use rights — current portion = b {5 F # — B B %8 5 1,466 1,323
Corporate income tax recoverable 7 iR 1b ¥ Fr 18 fi 17,747 5,630
Others HAth 43,996 23,034
218,170 92,249
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

17 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 17
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The amounts due from related parties included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables are as follows:

5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

AR -#HERHEMER

FRIE @)

FUATER 0 2 K H At FE Y FOIR B e
WRAEE 7T RIBmM T

Unaudited Audited

RBER rEZ

30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015

2016 F 20154

6 A30H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARETT

A fellow subsidiary —KRARZME QA 3,577 4,484
Entities significantly influenced XEESREBASREM

by key management EATENRA 193 140

Ultimate controlling shareholder BAEERRKRE 23 -
A fellow subsidiary of the ultimate TR RO E QT

controlling shareholders 183 —

Fellow subsidiaries of the key shareholders I 2 % & &9 8 B 2 & 90,658 -

94,634 4,624

The above amounts are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have no
fixed terms of repayment.

tigEsIREARARRE  RAEETE
ERAH -

79)
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& B3 & O B 75 ¥R 3k Y 5 (&)

18 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

18 HitemEE

Unaudited Audited
REER KEZ
30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015
20164 20154
6 H30H 12 H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Commercial bank wealth investment EEIRTHEREER()
products (i) 399,854 803,859
Trust plan investment (ii) =ZFEET 81 & (i) 20,000 70,000
419,854 873,859

(iii)

As at 30 June 2016, the Group’s commercial bank wealth
investment products were mainly financial products purchased
from banks with good credit rating and were stated at fair value,
with expected annual interest rates of 2.6% to 3.6% (31
December 2015: 2.6% to 4.3%). These fair value investments
were acquired with original maturity of one month to one year
and were not allowed to be withdrawn prior to the maturity date
without the banks’ consent.

As at 30 June 2016, the Group, as one of the beneficiaries,
invested RMB20,000,000 (31 December 2015: RMB70,000,000)
in a unit trust plan set up by a subsidiary of the Company’s
indirect shareholder who can exercise significant influence over
the Company and a related party of the Group. The Group’s
investments in this trust plans have an expected maximum return
of 10% (31 December 2015: 9.2% to 10%) per annum and the
maturity period is within 1 year, with the principals and return of
the investments guaranteed by third parties. The funding of such
unit trust plans was used in the investments in a mining
company.

As at 30 June 2016, other financial assets amounting
RMB100,000,000 were pledged for the Group’s letter of credit (31
December 2015: RMB100,000,000).

(i)

(i)

R2016F6 A30H * REB M EE
RITVEREERTIEANRRY
NEEFANBTEENEAAR
BEIENESRER EHMNF
A R 52.6%-3.6% (2015512 31
B :26%ZE43%) ELEE B —
MAR —FXNPAFAAELEE
THREZETEREE -

R2016F6H30R " K E B(E A
2@ A2 —) AR #20,0000007T
(2015412 A31 8 : AR #70,000,000
TEARRMEEREGEH AR
AEMERTZE)NFRARI(ANEE
RORAEE 7)) SR M — BB {FRERT
EEITIRE - NEBREMNEFEE
IMEENENGaRREASE
F10% (2015F 12 A31 H : 92% &
10%)  —FNEH - A& ME R
EE=FOEETER ZBME
RAENESHERARKE —REXE

AR

R20165E6 A30H &K £ E A
HERAAGEAZEMERNE M4
CREENEAEEAARE
100,000,000 7T (201512 A31 8 -
100,000,0007T) °
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

19 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER
BANK DEPOSITS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

19 8% R R 174 17 M A o8B
AEENREE R

Unaudited Audited
REEX R
30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015
2016 20154
6 A30H 12331 H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARBT T
Cash and cash equivalents ReLBREEEY 747,202 1,307,556
Pledged deposits with banks SR HIAIEITER 619,231 594,981

Time deposits with maturity of FHEA=BANEN
more than 3 months TE B 17 3 (@) 1,364,941 1,535,527
2,731,374 3,438,064

Less: Short-term pledged deposits J& : R TRl & 2~ 55 B

for banking facilities REFEZHFR (o) 619,231 594,981
Less: Long-term bank deposits & : K EISR 1T K (a) 371,577 363,227
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTTET 1,740,566 2,479,856

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest
rates. As at 30 June 2016, the effective annual interest rates of
short-term time deposits were approximately 1.48% to 4.8% (31
December 2015: 0.18% to 5.25%), which would be due within
one year. The effective interest rates of long-term time deposits
were approximately 4.55% to 4.9% (31 December 2015: 4.55%
to 4.88%), and would be due over the next one or two years. The
bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 30 June 2016, other than certain bank loans secured by
time deposits amounting to RMB615,578,000 (31 December
2015: RMB510,356,000), a deposit of RMB3,653,000 (31
December 2015: RMB84,625,000) was pledged for letters of
credit.

RITRESRERBITMIS A L5t
B R20165F6 A30H ' % Hi & &Y
WITIFEAENFENEL B1.48%E
4.8% (201512 A31 8 : 0.18% &
525%) Wi N —FREH K
HEARTFEBERFNENAR
4.55% & 4.9% (2015412 A 31 B :
455%%4.88%) F WK —ZEMF
HE - RITEBRRERFFERRNIED
HEENREY B EEREMRT

R2016F6 8308« B T — 4R
TEFRRBBATHERARE
615,578,0007T (201512 A31 8 :
A R #510,356,000 7T ) # 1T £ 1R -
i B A R 3,653,000 7T 77 7 (2015
F12H31H8 : AR#¥84,625,0007T)
WIEABREAEERENRES -

il
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& B3 & ff B 35 3R R Y = (4R)

20 TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the invoice
date, as at the reporting date is as follows:

20

BZREMNRK

RBRERH AEEREEZAHNE
ZRENERNRESTAOT

Unaudited Audited

RIBER KEZ

30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015

2016 20154

6 A30H 12 H431H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETT

Within 3 months =EANA 363,512 261,147
3 to 6 months =EA=ZE~EA 19,108 7,103
More than 6 months NE A A E 5,251 3,854
387,871 272,104

The amounts due to related parties included in trade payables are as

FINE 5 FE AR R e FE A BE Bt 05 B0 3R IR

follows: N

Unaudited Audited
RBER KEZ
30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015
2016 20154
6H30H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR AR T T

An entity significantly influenced by —RXIXETEEHEEAE
key management personnel HBIMEXRTZEH R A 100 100
Fellow subsidiaries EEX PN 21,858 13,541

Fellow subsidiaries of the ultimate SRR R A B A 7
controlling shareholder 5,889 —
Fellow subsidiaries of the key shareholders 3= 2 ji% 5t Bt /& A 7 552 -
28,399 13,641

BORNER BREMNBET K
FoRTABE—RR—E=EANE
=

Trade payables, including amounts due to related parties, are non-
interest-bearing and are normally settled within one month to three
months.
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5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

21 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21 HWENRKRESTEHA

Unaudited Audited

RBER LEZ

30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015

2016 20154

6 A30H 12H31H

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B & ARE T ARBT T

Advances from customers BEFEEMZ® 88,030 139,709

Accrued payroll EstH 90,777 91,265

Interest payables FERF B 109 —

Other tax payable H b FES TR 13,141 28,913

Loan from a local government It 77 R (X (a) 2,500 202,500

Guarantee deposits WE B IR 8 & 73,064 61,364

Customer loyalty program BB R E (b) 9,227 3,203

Accrued expenses EiREH 482,310 291,215

Others HAb © 91,171 83,643

850,329 901,812

The amount due to a related party included in other payables and FIAEMERRBEBMES BB ENE
accruals is as follows: BT RO FIBEA T

Unaudited Audited

RBER BEZ

30 June 2016 |31 December 2015

2016 % 20154

6 A30H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%FT ARET T

A fellow subsidiary — KA FWE R A 3,090 200,000
An entity significantly influenced —RXXAEERREREAS

by key management personnel i 3= 0N 683 -

Fellow subsidiaries of the key shareholders 3 Z j% 38 &9 Bt B A 7) 132 —

3,905 200,000




80  Yashili International Holdings Ltd Inferim Report 2016

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& B3 & ff B 35 3R R Y = (4R)

21 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

(@)

As at 31 December 2015, a loan of RMB200,000,000 was
borrowed from Inner Mongolia Mengniu (Group) Co., Ltd., which
bore interest at a fixed interest rate of 3% per annum from
December 2014. The loan was repaid in 2016.

Customer loyalty program

21

HMWENRAKETTEH @

@ H2015F12A318 KARKRKH
SHAE(EER)RHAERRDR G
# A B #200,000,0007T * 2014 4F
12 ARIRIE B E F F K3%ar B o
ZERCR2016FEE -

b)) EBFEHFE

Unaudited Audited
REEZX LEZ
30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015
2016 20154
6 A30H 12331 H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARBTF T
At 1 January ®W1A1H 3,203 13,203
Additions 2 m 9,227 23,093
Recognised as revenue during BB R A
the period (3,203) (10,360)
At 30 June R6A30H 9,227 25,936

Others mainly include construction cost payables.

The above amounts, including those due to related parties, are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

© HEMIEeFEENIER-

LR BREELRNEE T
Ry REER 2ENREBETEE
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22 INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 22 FTERITHER
Unaudited Audited
REER BEG
As at 30 June 2016 As at 31 December 2015
R201656A30A 2015612 A318
Effective Effective
Note interest rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 interest rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BERA= BB A%
(i (%) ZHKE AR¥TR %) FEER ARETT
Current BN R
Short-term bank loans: 52 B4R/ TE 2
— Pledged loans —-BRER (@ 1M LIBOR+0.9 2016 543,757 1M LIBOR+0.9 2016 461,696
— Pledged loan —EREX @ 1M HIBOR+0.9 2016 36,325 -
— Pledged loans —“BARER b 3M LIBOR+1.6 2016 7,103 -
— Credit loan —-EREX  (© 3.9 2017 100,000 -
687,185 461,696
Unaudited Audited
RBER wEZ
30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015
2016 & 20154
6HA30H 12 H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥E T ARBT T
Bank loans denominated in RITER
— UsD —AETTEE 543,757 461,696
— RMB —UARBERE 100,000 —
— HKD —AAEBEE 36,325 -
— EUR —ABUTEHE 7,103 -
(@) As at 30 June 2016, certain bank loans with an aggregate @ 2016468301 + — Lk 48 B 5 4y
amount of approximately RMB 580,082,000 (31 December 2015: & AN R #580,082,0007T (2015 &
RMB461,696,000) were secured by a time deposit amounting to 128318 : AR #461,696,0007T)
RMB615,578,000 (31 December 2015: RMB510,356,000). B4R 17 B 2 LA A R #615,578,000

TT(2015F 12 A31H: A R ¥
510,356,000 7T ) &) T& HA 75 50 3 17 K

il

(o)  As at 30 June 2016, certain bank loans with an approximate (b) M2016FE6A308 @ — L& 2 5 4
amount of RMB7,103,000 (31 December 2015: Nil) was secured A A R ¥7103,0007C (20154F 12
by commercial bank wealth investment amounting to A31H : E)MBETERUARK
RMB100,000,000. 100,000,000 7T #J 7 % R 17 01 7% 1%

BEMETHER -

() As at 30 June 2016, a certain bank loan with an aggregate () M2016F6H30FE HEAARK
amount of RMB100,000,000 (81 December 2015: Nil) was 100,000 0007_5(2015¢12H 318 :
unsecured, which bore interest at a fixed interest rate of 3.9% BYWBITERABEEKBENSARE
per annum, and the maturity date is within 1 year. =L ETE E F=3.9%:t 8 - R

—F R -
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& B8 & OF B 7% ¥R 3% B &F (4&)
23 SHARE CAPITAL 23 AR
Unaudited Audited
RBEX T IZ
30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015
2016 & 20154
6A30H 12531 H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥E T ARBT T
Authorised: 25 -
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares 10,000,000,000 % & % H (&
of HK$0.1 each 0.17%8 JTH) I B A% 861,600 861,600
Number of
ordinary shares Nominal value
ZERHA HE
Note (in thousand) RMB’000
Bt 5 (Fhx) ARETT
Issued and fully paid: EEITRERE -
At 1 January 2016 (Audited) R2016F 1 A1 H (K FE%) 4,745,560 399,352
As 30 June 2016 (Unaudited) 7K2016F6 A30H
(REEFEZ) 4,745,560 399,352
At 1 January 2015 (Audited) R2016%F1 A1H (K &%) 3,659,170 305,532
Shares issued to Danone Asia ) 3 RE Zo M B 1T AR 4 @ 1,186,390 93,820
As 30 June 2015 (Unaudited) R2015%6 A30H
(REEEZ) 4,745,560 399,352

(@  On 30 October 2014, the Company, Mengniu International and
Danone Asia entered into the Subscription Agreement, pursuant
to which, among other things, Danone Asia has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for and the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue 1,186,390,074 subscription shares at
the subscription price of HK$3.70 per subscription share.

The share subscription has been approved by the Company’s
shareholders in an extraordinary general meeting on 28
November 2014.

On 12 February 2015, the Company received all the share
subscription proceeds of HK$4,389,643,000, equivalent to
RMB3,471,330,000, among which RMB93,820,000 was
accounted for as share capital, and the remaining, after
deducting issuance expenses, amounting to RMB3,374,773,000
was accounted for as share premium.

20149108308 AR 7 4 H
BRREEDMBRT T RERSE  H
IR EREMNEMIEERER
B BARRIEM KGR ERE K
%%171,186,390,074 X R B 15 - R
BERAERREMITOHB T -

R2014FE11 A28 Z R RED
ERARRRREBRREFENAS £
HEfE o

R2015F2 8128 A akE &
=D A% #E 52 B 31 4,389,643,00078 7T
44 AR #3,471,330,0007T © E &
A R #93,820,0007C 5 A B % 17 I%
N FHESBEENBBETBERED
AR #3,374,773,000 7T 5+ A B% 255
{g °
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the six months ended 30 June 2016 and 2015 are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 46 of these
condensed financial statements.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2016

Acquisition of Dumex

On 31 May 2016, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest in Dumex
from Danone Asia. Dumex is mainly engaged in the manufacture and
sale of infant formula products under the Dumex brand. The acquisition
was made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market of infant
formula products in Mainland China.

24

25

5 BA & Of B 75 ¥ 3R Y = ()

fi& f

NEE D B H £201646 A308 &2015
FoASALEARMEMNHEESERE
BEEVNAANERHEITHREFI6EE G
ESEHE -

XKt
R2016 F W —=RF 2T

W 8 % £ %

20165 A31H » AR & B [ i g2 22 M
WHEEE2ETRARZER100%IEHE - Z
RAFBRESELREENREFD
MR EEREE EHIRBEEDASE
EERPEAEZDZTEST DN EBTH

— %5 -
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25 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 25 XS B3t
Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2016 (continued) R2016FWE—FRF 28 @
Acquisition of Dumex (Continued) W B % 35 4 (18)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Dumex as at RWEBRS LR ATENEEFE
the date of acquisition were as follows: MEBGBEZARBEWT
Fair value
recognized on
acquisition
WBRRERZ
ARE
Notes RMB’000

B & AR¥ETT

Assets BE

Property, plant and equipment Y- BEREE 11 68,290
Construction in progress EEITRE 12 7,473

Land use rights 4 Hb 55 A R 41,527

Intangible assets mIVEE 283,120
Inventories FE 64,945
Trade and bills receivables Z R FRRRIE 63,887
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR RIE - e & HE At E K RIE 14,116
Cash and bank balances Re RRITER 112,071

Total assets BEBERE 655,429
Liabilities =R

Trade payables Y AN (43,626)
Other payables and accruals HibENH R ETER (302,909)
Current tax payable FERATE B (112)
Total liabilities BEER (346,647)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEARBENEZAHRNEER 308,782
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition meREEEEE 718,476

Purchase consideration at fair value EARnBEINEZHEERE 1,027,258
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25 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 25 XS Bt
Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2016 (Continued) R2016F B —RF R " @
Acquisition of Dumex (Continued) W B8 % 35 V4 (18)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Dumex for RAHE EEHELFKESEZRS
the current period is as follows: Mo RINET :
RMB’000
ARET T
Cash consideration BERE 1,099,695
Cash and cash equivalents BEREBRSEREEEY (112,071)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included FTARBEEEEMNBReREZLHE R
in cash flows from investing activities BeZEYRL FRE 987,624

Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash AR ESELENBAe R 2 KB EE
flows from operating activities RS 5,510

993,134
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26. ASSETS OF DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED
AS HELD FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES
DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH THE
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

In December 2015, the Company decided to dispose of Scient (China)
Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd. (“Scient (China)”) and Heilongjiang Yashili
Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Yashili (Heilongjiang)”) so as to improve its capacity
utilisation. As at 30 June 2016, the negotiation with potential buyers
was still in progress and these two subsidiaries were classified as
disposal groups held for sale.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of these two subsidiaries

‘nu‘ﬁm‘ﬁtb

O

3%
B

m
Ny It

B0 ot

&

)

Il

ETh“HFFF

i B A
AIEBEE
aE

2015412 A - 7‘%}5%‘? BEAMAE AR
/;&Eﬂj%%@
EERABARR A
IHLTHILEBERAR(EEIEL
R20165FE6A30H ' BEEEMR
FRAE ARAEBEERMAHMDIE

M) e

EET - EMEXFRAIKED

EEEM-

B(PE)2E
E('# B) 1) A 2 B

2452

PERERF

R2016F6 A0 EMR F AR HFERF

classified as held for sale as at 30 June 2016 are as follows: EEERBELT :
Unaudited
RBEZX
30 June 2016
201656 A30H
RMB’000
AR%FT
Scient Yashili
(China) (Heilongjiang) Total
iR (P E) BEIBKELR &5t
Assets: BE:
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - B L& 130,654 32,024 162,678
Construction in progress EEITRE - 49 49
Land use rights T b {5 A AE 27,719 2,582 30,301
Intangible assets BEEE 613 19 632
Trade receivables Z 5 e 30 = 30
Prepayments, deposits and ERHIE ek
other receivables H g Ui 5K 3,347 1,152 4,499
Cash and bank balances Ne NIRITES 443 _ 443
Inventories FE - 1,151 1,151
Investment properties LEME 43,337 — 43,337
Assets classified as held forsale D iEAEEEENEE A
BE 206,143 36,977 243,120
Liabilities: E &
Trade payables 2 ZFERR (390) (713) (1,103)
Other payables and accruals EI hEN R R ETE R (5,875) (842) 6,717)
Liabilities directly associated with B > 58 A HHFEE&E
assets classified as held for HEHBENAE
sale (6,265) (1,555) (7,820)
Net assets directly associated HEEAEEMAEBRD
with the disposal group FEE 199,878 35,422 235,300
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26. ASSETS OF DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED 26. 2 A B EEENEE A
AS HELD FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES ’éf EN ol THEAEESE
DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH THE EEEEHBENEEw
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(Continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of these two subsidiaries R2015F12A3THEMR F AR FEERF
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2015 are as follows: EEENBEBNOT
Audited
31 December 2015
2015412 A381H
RMB’000
ARET T
Scient Yashili
(China) (Heilongjiang) Total
R (RE) REIELH =
Assets: BE
Property, plant and equipment ¥ % « B M 2% & 133,909 32,180 166,089
Construction in progress EETRE 329 49 378
Land use rights T Hb{E AR 27,687 2,578 30,265
Intangible assets BEEE 120 24 144
Trade receivables Z 5 ek 8 - 8
Prepayment, deposits and FERRIE fek
other receivables =N e 5,460 303 5,763
Cash and bank balances | RRITHER 929 32 961
Inventories e 29,914 1,315 31,229
Deferred tax assets BRERMBREE 8,575 — 8,575
Investment properties "EYE 44,638 - 44,538
Assets classified asheld forsale DB AIEERENREELE 251,469 36,481 287,950
Liabilities: afiE
Trade payables B S EN R (2,384) (807) (3,191)
Other payables and accruals EMEMNZNETER (6,106) (997) (7,103)
Liabilities directly associated with B2 3 8 A B HFEEE A E
assets classified as held for HENaRE
sale (8,490) (1,804) (10,294)

Net assets directly associated HEEBHABEZBBERNFEE
with the disposal group 242,979 34,677 277,656
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27 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following outstanding capital commitments in
respect of the purchase and construction of items of property, plant
and equipment as at the end of the reporting period:

27

B AR EIE

RBEHRR AEEFHEBEREZY
X BEMRBENERNAENT

Unaudited Audited
RBER wEZ
30 June 2016 | 31 December 2015
2016 F 20154
6H30H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥E T ARET T

Contracted, but not provided for: BT 418 KRB HE
Land and buildings EENZEELEY — 14,266
Plant and machinery TR B 11,228 6,871
Investment commitment B G — 1,064,280
11,228 1,085,417
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28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

In addition to the transactions and balances which are disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the
following significant transactions with its related parties.

28 B R RS

(@)

BRAFBERREMEZREN
R 5 RAESHIN - A5 B B E R R
THETNINERXRS -

Unaudited
RBEX
For the six months ended 30 June
B Z6H30HL6EA

2016 2015

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 7 AR¥B T ARBT T

Sale of maltodextrin and sugar, etc. $HEZEFE#IFE - BS  (i)&Vi) 6,136 12

Sale of milk powder products HE DM E M@ (i) 2,572 236

Purchase of milk powder products i & 1 ¥ & & (ii) - 32,987

Purchase of base powder BEEN (ii) 108,235 47,339

Purchase of raw materials EEERERM (ii)&(vi) 748 -

Purchase of packing materials BB BEME (iii 5,486 -

Purchase of starch and sugar, etc. BB ERH - B (iii) 1,700 557

Income from consigned processing % &t i1 T 93 #) &= S (iv) — 23,989

Income from consigned processing Z &t 40 T 4315 & & (ii) 22,591 —

Income from rental of property Y ELREE (ii) - 222

Rental of property and plant HEMEREE (i) 12 -

Interest income from cash pool B mF B WA (ii) 21 —

Entrusted loan ZEER (ii) &(v) - 200,000
Interest expense from an entrusted Z £ E R B F B = 1

loan (i) &) 131 4,127

Purchase of trust products BEEITER (il = 50,000

89
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28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@)

(Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the above
related party transactions were conducted on normal commercial
terms during the ordinary course of business. The directors have
confirmed that the above transactions will continue in the future.

U

(i)

(i)

(V)

These represent related party transactions with entities
significantly influenced by key management.

These represent related party transactions with fellow
subsidiaries.

These represents related party transactions with fellow
subsidiaries of the parent’s main shareholder.

These represent Oushi Mengniu’s consigned processing
income of milk powder for Inner Mongolia Mengniu (Group)
Dairy Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary and a
connected party of the Company. These transactions do
not constitute connected transactions as defined in the
Listing Rules as all the transactions took place before the
acquisition date of Oushi Mengniu.

This represents the interest expense from an entrusted
loan that Oushi Mengniu borrowed from Inner Mongolia
Mengniu (Group) Dairy Company Limited, a fellow
subsidiary and a connected party of the Company. As
Oushi Mengniu did not repay the loan after the acquisition
date, the transactions accured in 2015 were defined as
connected transactions according to the Listing Rules. The
loan was repaid in March 2016.

These represent related party transactions with investor
and its subsidiaries which have significant influence over
the Group.

28 BB R R F @

(@

(%)

ARAEERR NLBETRS
TR —REFGTET AHEBAE
EBBRTET - BEFCER MU
EXBEERRRBELT -

() HBHEARAETESHEEA
BEMMEAFENAANE

iy HHERRWMERAHBEHS
X5 e

(i) AEZFEERIFNEER
RHWBBARNEBR LIRS -

s

LR GAEBESEERAR
SHIAE(EE) RN BER
NRE(ARRE RN B A
AIRBBER)ZENIHH
RN - 5 e ZHEEEE
HERHRFOWE AR I
NHERK LR BIFT R E /78
HBR o

V) &

It =

> Of B

V) RRXIBBUHRFHARNTH
SHAE(EER)BRHDBERA
AIBEANZREEREFEX
b Rt R4 Ui B &
REBZER  HE20155F
BEMNRZEK AR
AEMBERS - ZEERK
ER20165F3 A& FEE -

V) ZRXHIR/HEAKBBEEARY
BENRETREMBAR -
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28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continved) 28 BEEE F X 5 )

(b)  Outstanding balances with related parties (o) EARFEE 5 A KEEEH
Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are set EHEEBB TN REELESRFS
out in notes 16, 17, 18, 20 and 21 to these condensed BN ABAY BRERWME16 17
consolidated financial statements. 182021 -
(€)  Compensation of key management personnel of the Group ) AEBTIEEEAENNS
Unaudited
REEZ
For the six months ended 30 June
B Z6H30H16EA
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARET T
Directors’ fees Rk 600 600
Salaries and allowances e KOER 2,190 2,500
Retirement benefit contributions IR RAE AR 3R 56 56
The key management compensation represented the FEEBRABNMMER A
remuneration paid or payable to the directors and senior NTPARARABEFTNESRITHRAE

executives of the Company. BB S -
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29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 29 REHNIASNEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments REEER SESH T ENEREN
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: =

Unaudited
RBEX
As at 30 June 2016
7201656 A30H
Financial
assets at fair Financial
value through assets at
profit or loss amortised cost Total
URnEE P8 325
BETABRR RASTEH
FTENSREE SREE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T AR®BT ARBT T
Financial assets EWMEE
Trade and bills receivables BoEWZREE - 160,877 160,877
Prepayments, deposits and AR He Rk
other receivables H A & W ROR - 119,802 119,802
Other current financial assets HihemEE 419,854 - 419,854
Pledged deposits SREIRITER — 619,231 619,231
Long-term bank deposits EHRITHER - 371,577 371,577
Cash and bank balances We LRTEF - 1,740,566 1,740,566
419,854 3,012,053 3,431,907
Unaudited
REEX
As at 30 June 2016
R2016%F6 A30H
Financial
liabilities at fair Financial
value through liabilities at
profit or loss  amortised cost Total
URnEE LA 8
BETABRE RAGTEH
FTENSREE cRAE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®B T ARB T
Financial liabilities sHasE
Trade payables H 5 FERIR - 387,871 387,871
Other payables and accruals HENRREZSEA - 277,612 277,612
Short-term interest-bearing HHIGBRITER
bank loans — 687,185 687,185
- 1,352,668 1,352,668
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29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

HEFBEBRERERAT RIS 2010

29 HERIB TN ERT A

As at 31 December 2015
MW20156 12 A31H

Financial assets

Audited
REZ

at fair value  Financial assets
through profit or at amortised
loss cost Total
KA BE LA #4
SR ARR B AN E 2 8
HENERmEE TRMEE a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTT ARBTT
Financial assets SREE
Trade and bills receivables B S RRA KR EE — 71,815 71,815
Prepayments, deposits and AR ek
other receivables H b fE UG 3818 — 13,807 13,807
Other current financial assets EmesmiE 873,859 — 873,859
Pledged deposits ZRHRITFER — 594,981 594,981
Long-term bank deposits RERITER — 363,227 363,227
Cash and bank balances BE&NIRTHERF — 2,479,856 2,479,856
873,859 3,523,686 4,397,545
Audited
As at 31 December 2015
2015912 A31H
Financial liabilities
at fair value  Financial liabilities
through profit or at amortised
loss cost Total
ARAREE LA £
SEEABER B AN EF = 8
TEMNERARE Ea = &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARBT T ARBTT
Financial liabilities cRAE
Trade payables B 5 EMIRR — 272,104 272,104
Other payables and accruals HisE R EFER - 410,585 410,585
Short-term Interest-bearing FEHIGE B RITIE R
bank loans — 461,696 461,696
- 1,144,385 1,144,385
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30 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 30 s I A2 REBERAR

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

B &R

AEENSRTANEEERA L EME,
TOERMURAABENEEE 15
-

Unaudited Audited
RICER "LEZ
30 June 2016 31 December 2015
20166 A30H 201512 A31 H
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
IREEE AREE REEE NAEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T ARETTT AR¥ETT
Financial assets TREE

Long-term bank deposits & H1 48 1T 1% 3% 371,577 385,179 363,227 352,758

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, trade and bills
receivables, other current financial assets, trade payables, financial
assets included in prepayments and deposits, interest receivable, and
other receivables, financial liabilities included in accruals and customers’
deposits, interest payables and other payables and accruals, short-
term bank loans approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance
team reports directly to the management. At each reporting date, the
corporate finance team analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the management.
The valuation process and results are discussed with the management
twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

EEPHAETHRSNRESEED - 5
ARBEEDSNEBEFR EHEK
REER HMoMmEE BIEMAR
Bt ABAREREZS BRABERE
HMEKRENEREE FTAERER
&%ﬁﬂ@~ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
MEeMBEE  RHTERITERNAAR
BEREREEEMRAR ARELSH
TEMKRE D BERHANREIE-

AEEHPBERAENYHBERAR
BETBRTAAABEFENBEMIE
F-BHEBEGERAEEERS - ES
ﬂﬁiﬁ'“ﬂﬁﬁl%“ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ

Aﬁ %ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬁ& %
THHRNFERBRS  HEBEMSE
REETEESF WM -
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets are included at the amount at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The
following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of pledged deposits and long-
term bank deposits have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s financial instruments:
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ENEEED

TREENAABENZIAEERRS
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Assets for which fair values are disclosed: BEAREBEFENEE
Fair value measurement using
AREFENER

As at As at
30 June 2016 |31 December 2015
R2016 5 20155
6 H30H 12H31H
Significant Significant
unobservable unobservable
inputs (Level 3) inputs (Level 3)
BERFAHE E-W NI SE
BWABE & A BUR
(B=%/) (B=ZER)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
Long-term bank deposits REIRITFR 385,179 352,758

During the six months ended 30 June 2016, there were no transfers of
fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for financial assets (six months end 30 June 2015:
Nil).
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at the approval date of the financial statement, the Group had no
significant events after the reporting period which need to be disclosed.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the
current period’s presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24
August 2016.
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